
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Joint 
Transportation 

Board
Mrs A D Allen MBE (KCC) – Chairman

Councillor K M Kelly (DBC)–Vice-Chairman

Mr D Butler (KCC)
Mrs P Cole (KCC)

Mr P Harman (KCC)
Mr J Kite MBE(KCC)

Mr J Ozog (KCC)

Councillor J A Hayes (DBC)
Councillor E J Lampkin (DBC)

Councillor Mrs J A Ozog (DBC)
Councillor D Page (DBC)

Councillor R J Wells (DBC)

Parish representative – Councillor R Lees

A meeting of the above Board will be held on

Tuesday 4 December 2018

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
23 November 2018



This page is intentionally left blank



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
AGENDA

Tuesday 4 December 2018

1. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any).

2. Apologies for Absence. 

3. To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint 
Transportation Board held on 4 September 2018. 

(Pages 1 - 14)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. Matters Arising (Pages 15 - 
18)

KCC

This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at 
previous meetings of the Board.

6. References from other Committees (if any) 

7. Chairman's Update 

A verbal update will be provided, at the Chairman’s request, on the 
following items: -

 Delays in the Completion of road works at St Clements Way 
Greenhithe.

 Progress on the Introduction of Residents Parking Schemes 
across the Borough

8. Proposed  Waiting  Restrictions, Chastilian Road and Wentworth 
Drive , Dartford, Kent 

(Pages 19 - 
30)



9. Fastrack Report (Pages 31 - 
36)

10. Vehicle Crossovers (Pages 37 - 
40)

11. Dartford Town Centre Redevelopment: Update (Pages 41 - 
52)

12. Petition: Rezoning Dartford Railway Station (Pages 53 - 
58)

13. Members Enquiry Items 

Members have the opportunity to raise  the following: -

 Questions in relation to capital and revenue funded works 
programmes

 Suggestions for future traffic regulation orders or street 
management proposals

 Questions on policies, plans and strategies related to 
highways, road traffic and public transport.

 Suggestion of a future agenda item (subject to the Chairman’s 
approval)

14. Dartford Winter Works (Pages 59 - 
60)

15. Well Managed Highways (Pages 61 - 
88)

16. Dartford Highways Works Programme (Pages 89 - 
100)

17. KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee (Pages 101 - 
112)

The following are attached for Members information: -

 Environment, and Transport Cabinet Committee – Minutes 20 
September 2018

NB: If a Member wishes to discuss any of these items at the meeting, 
please advise the Member Services Section (01322) 343251 prior to 
the meeting.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on Tuesday 4 
September 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Mrs. A Allen MBE (Chairman, KCC)
Councillor K M Kelly (Vice-Chairman, DBC)

Mr. D Butler, KCC
Mrs. P Cole, KCC
Mr. P Harman, KCC
Mr. J Kite MBE, KCC

Councillor J A Hayes, DBC
Councillor E J Lampkin, DBC
Councillor D Page, DBC
Councillor R J Wells, DBC

ABSENT: Mr. J Ozog, KCC
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog, DBC
Councillor R Lees (DBC Parish Rep.)

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Carol Valentine – West Kent Highways Manager, 
KCC

Denise Sutton – Dartford District Manager, KCC
Martin Smith – Civil Enforcement Supervisor, DBC

Yvonne Leslie – Senior Stakeholder Manager, 
Govia Thameslink Railway Ltd.

14. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

Apologies for absence were received from Mr. Jan Ozog (KCC), Councillor 
Mrs. Julie Ozog (DBC) and Cllr. Richard Lees (Dartford Parish 
representative).

The Chairman confirmed that all Board Members had received a copy of the 
‘Update’ email from Southeastern Railways, in the absence of Mr Chris 
Vinson from the company, due to illness.

15. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

2

16. TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE DARTFORD 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD HELD ON 5 JUNE 2018 

RESOLVED:

1. That the minutes of the meetings of the Joint Transportation Board held 
on 5 June 2018 be confirmed as accurate.

17. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman conformed that there were no urgent items for the Board to 
consider.

18. MATTERS ARISING 

Members received a report which advised progress on outstanding issues 
from previous meetings of the Board.

RESOLVED:

1. That Board Members note the contents of the report.

19. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE: ROAD SAFETY IN DARTFORD - BRENT 
PRIMARY SCHOOL, LONDON ROAD 

The Chairman confirmed that all Board Members had received a hard copy of 
a letter [forwarded by KCC following publication of the meeting agenda] 
written by a Brent primary school parent, expressing concern over specific 
road safety issues in the vicinity of the Brent primary school in London Road 
Dartford, and the adjacent Fleet estate. The letter had been co-signed by 55 
(fifty-five) Dartford residents. Members were advised that a parent/resident 
representative would address the Board to highlight those concerns with the 
Chairman’s permission.  

Drawing on the contents of the letter, the parent/resident representative 
advised Members of the following background to road safety in the area: 

 The volume of traffic on the London Road adjacent to the school and 
the estate had increased dramatically in recent years, and was set to 
rise even further, with the planned construction of an 8 form entry 
school in the proximity of Brent primary school;

 The speed of the traffic using London Road was of particular concern 
with traffic passing Brent school in excess of 30 m.p.h. given that the 
existing speed camera was not sited outside the school but further 
along London Road outside the petrol station;

 The national campaign by the charity BRAKE advocated a 20 m.p.h. 
speed limit (rather than 30 m.p.h.) around schools to increase the 
likelihood of victims surviving an accident at the lower speed. The 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

3

Council’s leaflet on road safety was a start, but a 20 m.p.h. speed 
restriction was urgently required in the vicinity around Brent school;

 Literature from the national body NICE (National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence) testified to the detrimental health effects traffic 
pollution had on children and urgent action was now required to 
address pollution levels around Brent and all Dartford schools;

 Illegal and inconsiderate parking outside the school, including by 
parents on both sides of London Road and close to the existing Pelican 
crossing was a major problem, which required more Council School 
Safety vehicles (SSVs) and the mounting of pavement cameras to 
record illegal parking to deter persistent offenders;

 Budget cuts had seen the local school Lollypop Lady made redundant 
and crossing regimes needed to be re-instituted at York Lane and West 
Hill, based on the successful arrangements in place for Watling Street.

Specific road safety measures advocated in the letter included:
 

 A safety review of the roads around Brent primary school by Kent 
County Council Highways Division and Dartford Borough Council as a 
matter of urgency;

 A speed limit of 20 m.p.h. be introduced on London Road from the 
junctions of Brent Way down to the junction of Cotton Lane;

 A speed limit of 20 m.p.h. on St. John’s Road;
 Speed deterrents on London Road e.g. 20 m.p.h. speed camera 

outside Brent school or speed bumps in front and either side of the 
school to slow traffic;

 Increased road markings and street signs to warn motorists of children 
crossing in the vicinity of the school;

 Yellow zig-zag lines outside the school with double yellow lines either 
side of the zig-zag lines;

 Increased presence of parking wardens to deter dangerous and illegal 
parking including by parents;

 A crossing guard to be positioned on St. John’s Road;
 Converting the existing island crossing between the school and 

Martin’s Drive footpath into a Zebra or Pelican crossing.

With the Chairman’s agreement, other estate residents and the parents of two 
Brent school pupils who had suffered injury as a result of road safety incidents 
also addressed the Board. One parent expressed her particular concern over 
comments made by Kent Police following her child’s accident to the effect 
that,  a pattern of traffic incidents had to be established before significant new 
road measures could be considered by the Police [and the responsible local 
authority].
 
The Chairman thanked the speakers for their contributions to the debate and 
expressed sympathy for their concerns. She advised of a Safer Streets 
initiative operating in her own Ward of Wilmington, where a 20 m.p.h. speed 
limit had been put in place around the local school and restrictions also 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

4

imposed on lorry traffic. She undertook to put the relevant Council and KCC 
Officers in touch with the Brent school and Fleet estate representatives. 

Councillor Kite (attending as a KCC Member) responded in his role as Leader 
of the Council and Chairman of his Working Group on School Safety in 
Dartford. He said that he shared the many concerns over road safety that had 
been expressed by parents and residents regarding Brent school and advised 
that it was not the case (as attributed to Kent Police) that a pattern of 
repeated accidents had to take place in a specific area or location before 
increased road safety measures were implemented by the Police and the 
local authority.  Brent school had in fact contacted the Council following the 
first serious incident involving their pupil, and it was that expression of 
concern from the school, that had triggered the formation of the Leader’s 
Working Group on School Safety for Brent and all Dartford schools.  

He explained that his Working Group had adopted a co-ordinated approach to 
improving road safety for Dartford schools as a special initiative, outside the 
standard remit of Council business. The Working Group comprised of 
representatives from KCC, DBC, Kent Police, Dartford Community Safety 
Unit, Enforcement Officers and the KCC Child Safety Unit, to work with all 
Dartford schools on an individual basis to address their specific needs and 
concerns and arrive at agreed solutions.  It was not a case of just issuing 
leaflets, but of pursuing various work streams to produce short and medium 
term solutions [‘quick-wins’] leading to long-term solutions with the delivery of 
appropriate physical road safety measures as required. The schools were the 
key element in alerting the Council to their individual road safety concerns and 
needs. The Leader’s aim was to have a ‘champion’ representing each 
Dartford school (staff member or governor) to actively participate in the work 
of Group. 

Anecdotal evidence of driver misbehaviour, and the impact that local 
businesses had on schools in terms of road safety, were best known to those 
parents and school authorities. On the specific issue of the Council’s School 
Safety vehicle (SSV) the Leader advised that the SSV was also used to 
convey Enforcement Officers to several other locations to issue penalty 
notices, prior to parking outside an individual school.

In response to specific questions from Fleet estate residents concerning cars 
repeatedly parked on corners and obstructing the view of pedestrians, and the 
two-way traffic flow area between the estate and Brent school, the Leader 
gave the following background and advice:

 Many parking problems on the Fleet estate were a direct result of the 
displacement of cars which had previously parked on Powell Avenue, 
exacerbated by the overflow of cars from the nearby Darent Valley 
hospital. It had not proved possible to agree a Parking Scheme with the 
residents of the Fleet estate to help address these issues, but the 
Council remained open to looking at all possible solutions - nothing 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

5

was ‘off the table’ and proposed that a representative from the Fleet 
estate to attend his Working Group;

 The Council’s Enforcement Supervisor had visited Brent school to 
discuss solutions and local businesses on the London Road had been 
made aware of the difficulties their working practices and customer 
parking were having on the school and the surrounding area in terms of 
road safety, and the need to change their current practices and operate 
in a more socially responsible manner;

 Parents also had an important role to play in terms of driving and 
delivering their children to school in a responsible and law-abiding 
manner - school staff and the Council’s enforcement officers continued 
to face abuse from parents over parking issues on a daily basis;

 Installing new physical road safety measures fell under the wider remit 
of KCC, but the Council was on board with that process too, via the 
Leader’s Working Group. The work of the Group was expected to 
speed up now that schools were back from the summer break.

Mrs Cole (KCC Member for Dartford East) advised the Board that she was 
pushing for a number of road safety measures for Brent school and the Fleet 
estate to be taken forward by KCC Officers using her funding allocation for 
Dartford East within the Kent Highways budget. Proposed works included 
gauging whether a new pedestrian or light-controlled crossing would be 
appropriate for the school and addressing corner parking on the Fleet estate - 
the lack of any agreed Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) with residents for the 
Fleet Estate was a factor that would be re-evaluated. She believed that the 
majority of Brent primary school parents behaved responsibly, and she 
encouraged that majority to apply peer pressure on those parents who did 
not, to effect the required change in social behavioural to improve road safety 
for all pupils.

The KCC District Manager for Dartford advised that the relevant Kent 
Highway’s Schemes engineer would be assessing the traffic flow in the area 
in the coming weeks, to gauge volume, speed, and class of vehicles, as part 
of a feasibility study for the area, and determine the correct pedestrian 
crossing solution. KCC’s Soft Landscaping team had cut back vegetation on 
the Fleet estate to improve vision for pedestrians, particularly around the bus 
stop (despite some resident objections) and she would ask the team to 
undertake a further cut back. Corner parking was a contravention of the 
Highways Act and therefore a Kent Police enforcement issue: but KCC was 
helping to provide Kent Police with the background to this long-standing road 
safety issue on the Estate to help resolve matters going forward.

The KCC West Kent Highways Manager expressed her support for the 
Leader’s Working Group on School Safety and undertook to support its 
strategic aims. However, she advised that not all the issues and solutions 
were the responsibility of KCC. Kent Highways could provide engineering 
solutions, but improving driver behaviour was also a key element to effecting 
change and improving road safety: including the driving habits of parents who 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

6

delivered their children to school by car with all the attendant parking issues 
that exercise entailed on a daily basis.

The Council’s Enforcement Supervisor updated the Board on the operation of 
the Council’s school safety vehicle (SSV). Key operational points included:

 The SSV was deployed daily and operated by two Parking 
Enforcement Officers;

 1 school was monitored in the a.m. and a different school monitored in 
the p.m.;

 Not all Dartford school had road safety problems;
 The SSV also helped transport other Parking Enforcement Officers to 

operate at separate locations each day;
 Parking on street corners and footpaths was intrinsically a matter for 

the Police;
 The new Kent Police Inspector stationed in the Council’s Community 

Safety Unit at the Civic Centre had taken a pro-active stance on 
safety issues around schools, and PCs and PCSOs were now 
attending schools to help educate parents on the dangers of illegal 
and other parking issues;

 The Enforcement Supervisor also visited schools and was happy to 
respond to parents direct over their concerns;

 Parent peer pressure to tackle persistent offenders was an important 
element in effectively tackling parking issues around schools - issuing 
tickets and fining serial offenders was only effective to a degree.
 

The Chairman thanked the Enforcement Supervisor for updating the Board 
and his offer to confer direct with parents and school authorities directly over 
their concerns. 

The following points were confirmed by the Leader of the Council, the KCC 
Member for Dartford East and KCC and Dartford Officers, in response to a 
variety of questions from Board Members and residents:

 The speed analysis data for Trivett Drive would be sent to Board 
Members by the KCC District Manager;

 The Council’s School Safety vehicle visited all Dartford schools on a 
prioritised needs basis as ‘hotspots’ were identified, there was no set 
roster to visit schools;

 The Leader’s Working Group on School Safety had met twice to date. 
Initially to set up the parameters of its work and subsequently to 
organise a programme for visiting all Dartford schools to identifying a 
‘champion’ for each school to actively participate in the Working Group. 
A third meeting of the Working Group was planned following the end of 
the summer break and schools’ induction week.  Members were 
encouraged to attend the Leader’s Working Group if they wished to 
contribute over specific issues;

 Peer pressure between both parents and pupils was seen as an 
important tool to improve parent/driver behaviour and increase social 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

7

responsibility, including allocating dedicated time in school curriculums 
to road safety issues;

 Driver behaviour was the root cause of the speeding issues associated 
with the London Road, but KCC Officers would be asked to examine 
the case for a 20 m.p.h. limit or zone with Kent Police and report back 
to the Board in December 2018;

 The 5 (five) speed sensors on the Fleet estate recorded the average 
vehicle speed as below 30 m.p.h. The road safety priority was to 
eradicate parking on corners as a first step, then consider whether a 20 
m.p.h. limit or zone was required;

 The Speed Watch scheme successfully operated by residents in 
Ingress Park, Greenhithe and other areas of Dartford, was a further 
option open to Fleet estate residents to help combat speeding;

 The Leader’s Working Group on School Safety would remain separate 
from JTB auspices, but Board Members were welcome to attend and 
contribute to the Group’s meetings.

The Chairman thanked all parties for their contribution to the debate.

20. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees for the Board to consider.

21. PRESENTATION FROM GOVIA THAMESLINK RAILWAYS - NEW 
NATIONAL RAILWAYS TIMETABLE 

The Chairman renewed her thanks to Yvonne Leslie, Senior Stakeholder 
Manager, Govia Thameslink Railways Ltd for agreeing to attend the 
proceedings and update the Board regarding the new National Timetable for 
rail companies and its impact on Thameslink services.

Ms Leslie expressed Govia Thameslink’s deep regret for the disruption 
caused to Dartford passengers following the Government’s decision to 
introduce a new national timetable for rail companies on 20 May 2018. 

She gave the following background to the Government’s decision and 
consequent impact on the Govia Thameslink operation and service:

 The new national timetable (the Timetable) had been introduced to 
meet rising passenger demand and the need for increased capacity, 
particularly in the South East of England, where Govia Thameslink was 
now the principal operator;

 However, delays in the industry planning process resulted in rail 
companies being given only 3 weeks to implement the Timetable rather 
than the industry standard 12 week period required by rail companies 
to efficiently re-allocate drivers and undertake any additional driver 
training where new route knowledge was required. The compression of 
this 12 week period to only 3 weeks had led to acknowledged severe 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

8

disruption to the Thameslink operation which the company deeply 
regretted;

 Following that particularly severe disruption to Thameslink and 
Northern rail services following introduction of the Timetable on 20 
May, the Government Office of Rail and Road (ORR) had 
commissioned a report to assess what had happened, the underlying 
causes for the severe disruption, and what recommendations should 
be made to the rail industry as a consequence.  The initial findings of 
the ORR report were due to be made available on 20 September and 
the full report expected to be published by December 2018;

 Pending publication of the ORR recommendations to industry, Govia 
Thameslink had introduced a revised interim Timetable on 15 July to 
stabilise their services and provide better punctuality and reliability for 
customers. Performance had improved as a consequence, with 85% of 
Thameslink services now meeting the PPM standard (arriving within 5 
minutes of booked time) in the period 12-25 August, up from only 60% 
of services meeting PPM for the new Timetable following introduction 
on 20 May 2018;

 Govia Thameslink had also increased capacity in and out of London to 
meet to meet the traditional September increase in passenger demand 
[post the holiday period] with the introduced of a further 2 (two) 
services on the Gillingham loop, and would review that additional 
provision further as required.

The Vice-Chairman asked when Govia Thameslink expected to be able to 
meet the full demands of its customers and improve the current level of 
services to an acceptable standard. He had received reports that up 25 
drivers per day had had to be re-allocated from Southeastern Rail [Govia 
sister company] to drive Thameslink trains under the new Timetable.

Ms Leslie advised that:

 Thameslink’s short-fall in driver numbers on 20 May to meet the 
scheduling requirements of the Timetable had been as a direct result of 
the significantly compressed 3 week implementation period given to 
industry to implement the Timetable, rather than the industry standard 
12 weeks;

 A major portion of the industry standard 12 week notification period is 
devoted to the logistical exercise of matching existing drivers to the 
scheduling requirements of a new timetable, plus re-training drivers for 
e.g. new routes: the compression from 12 to only 3 weeks had 
prevented this exercise being achieved effectively by Thameslink;

 The 12 month training period for new drivers to replace experienced re-
allocated drivers had exacerbated matters. Thameslink was conducting 
a massive recruitment campaign for new drivers, plus switching drivers 
from her sister company Southeastern, to meet Thameslink’s increased 
passenger days under the new Timetable, up from 3,200 to 3,600;

 Thameslink’s difficulties and those of Northern rail would form part of 
the industry feedback to inform the ORR review and report.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

9

 
The Vice-Chairman acknowledged the additional measures Govia Thameslink 
had put in place from July to meet the demands of the new Timetable, but 
suggested that the additional measures should have been anticipated by the 
company from the outset, based on their prior knowledge of the Timetable at 
the draft stage, and the proposal to increase in Govia Thameslink’s passenger 
days from 3,200 to 3,600. The Timetable imposed no new engineering 
requirements on rail companies; it was simply a question of Govia Thameslink 
ensuring that sufficient rolling stock and driver provision was made available 
to meet the requirements of the Timetable, particularly, given the proposed 
increase from 3,200 to 3,600 passenger days on Thameslink services. Govia 
should have foreseen the need for increased levels of rolling stock and driver 
provision post 20 May 2018 and planned accordingly. He noted that, despite 
the introduction of the subsequent measures in July, only 85% of Thameslink 
trains were meeting the PPM target at the end of August.

Ms Leslie repeated her apologies on behalf of Govia Thameslink and advised 
Members that the new Timetable had caused problems not just for 
Thameslink services, but across the rail industry following its implementation 
on 20 May. The new Timetable process had now been put on hold, pending 
publication of the ORR’s initial findings on 20 September 2018. She 
understood that some companies were now actively objecting to the new 
Timetable, based on the re-structuring implications it held for their individual 
operations.  

In response to the Vice-Chairman and a variety of further specific questions 
from Members, Ms Leslie made the following points:

 Thameslink were now running more services than on 20 May, had yet 
to reach the 3,600 passenger day target due to cancellations, but 
reaching a PPM standard of 85% was an improvement in performance 
from May; 

 Thameslink’s current performance level was not a simple capacity-
related issue. Capacity had been added to some high-peak services for 
September and off-peak capacity would be increased in due course;

 The ORR Recommendations on 20 September and full report in 
December 2018 would hopefully provide Thameslink and other industry 
operators solutions to enable companies to fully meet their obligations 
under the new national timetable arrangements and better meet 
customer expectations;

 Delay Repay claims could be made by Thameslink passengers if their 
journey was delayed by 15 minutes or more (for reasons both within 
and outside their control);

 Special industry compensation has also been agreed with the 
Department for Transport (DfT) for passengers most affected by the 
disruption caused by the new Timetable, details of which were 
available on the company’s website;

 Thameslink were also in the process of contacting all season ticket 
holders whose details they held on their retail system [separately to the 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

10

Delay Repay system] that the company believed were eligible for 
compensation;

 Thameslink were also using data from their sister company 
Southeastern to contact eligible season ticket holders who had 
purchased their tickets from Southeastern on-line or at railway stations;

 Compensation processes were expected to take another 4-5 weeks to 
complete, following which an application form will be made available 
on-line to passengers who have not been contacted by Thameslink;

 Details of additional capacity for Thameslink services for Swanscombe, 
Greenhithe and Woolwich Arsenal would be relayed to Members via 
the Committee Clerk.

The Chairman thanked Ms Leslie for attending and for her helpful and open 
responses to Members.

Ms Leslie accepted the Chairman’s invitation to return and update the Board 
in March 2019 following publication of the full ORR report on the new 
Timetable and its Recommendations for the rail industry.

22. UPDATE FROM SOUTHEASTERN RAILWAYS 

In the absence of Mr Chris Vinson from Southeastern Railways due to illness, 
Members considered an email dated 4 September 2018 from Southeastern’s 
Stakeholder Engagement Manager, which updated the Board on the progress 
made by the company to address the various points of concern expressed by 
Members and residents to Mr Vinson at the last meeting of the Board on 5 
June 2018 [Min. No. 9 refers].

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the email from Southeastern and 
advise any further, immediate concerns to the Committee Co-Ordinator 
for relaying to the company for response;

2. That Mr. Vinson or another appropriate representative of Southeastern 
Railways be invited to attend the next meeting of the Board in 
December 2018. 

23. VEHICLE CROSSOVER INSTALLATIONS (DROPPED KERBS) 

The report from the Council’s Principal Transport Planning Officer 
outlined for the Board, the current process for vehicle crossover 
installations (dropped kerbs) which Kent County Council (KCC) 
provided as a chargeable service. KCC received and reviewed all 
applications for vehicle crossover installations (VCIs) considering a 
number of elements prior to approval or rejection of individual 
applications. 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

11

The KCC process had negatively affected a number of parking 
management schemes in the Borough in the past, resulting in the need 
for Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) amendment work to be undertaken.  
KCC had recently stated that it would no longer provide the TRO 
amendment service required when such applications were approved by 
the County authority. This held implications for the Borough Council’s 
resources.

The Board was asked to consider those implications for Dartford 
Council resources, as set out in detail in para 3.10 of the report 
[agenda p.23]. Based on those implications for the Council, in terms of 
both financial and personnel resources, the report recommended at 
para 3.11 that the Board advise Cabinet that:

 ‘The Council confirm to KCC that it is not able to resource the 
necessary to support the delivery of its [KCC’s] vehicle crossover 
installation service’. 

This would enable KCC to develop a new VCI process for its 
customers. 

In this latter context, the report also advised (para 3.12 refers) that the 
Council was able to assist KCC in any new VCI process by:

 Confirming whether or not the loss of a ‘parking space’ ; due to a 
dropped kerb installation; could be accommodated within an existing 
management scheme in the Borough, without negative impact on other 
residents living within that scheme; and by

 Providing the TRO Schedule wording for KCC to complete the TRO 
amendment process, including required line-painting and street 
signage, to enable the Council to continue to administer Civil Parking 
Enforcement and the issue of FPNs as appropriate.

In subsequent discussion with Members, the following points were made by 
KCC’s District Manager for Dartford:

 KCC charged applicants £350 for a VCI with 50% of the fee refunded if 
the application was unsuccessful;

 KCC’s role in the VCI process was to undertake an on-site safety 
inspection to approve or reject an application - nothing else;

 Borough/District Councils were responsible for any TRO amendments 
required following approval of a VCI application by KCC, with attendant 
costs for such work passed to the applicant;

 KCC had no resource for TRO amendments and did not undertake 
them in the current process, which referred VCI applicants to the 
relevant District authority, to ascertain and pursue any TRO 
amendments as required.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

12

In response, the Council’s Enforcement Supervisor advised Members that:

 Dartford Council was not resourced to undertake TRO amendment 
work in support of VCI applications [as set out in detail in para 3.10 of 
the report];

 Applications for TRO amendment works from the public are referred 
back to KCC;

 Unfortunately, in recent times some Dartford residents been left with a 
newly installed VCI approved by KCC but with an existing parking bay 
across it, preventing resident access to their new off-street parking 
provision;

 Council Officers have discussed these issues with both residents and 
KCC Officers, but KCC have declined to change their approach of 
approving VCI applications without first ensuring any required TRO 
amendment work is agreed;

 An interim process has been in operation to manage such VCI 
applications [requiring TRO amendment work] on a case by case basis, 
but the Council is not resourced to undertake this work ‘on demand’ on 
a permanent basis, as now advocated by KCC.

KCC’s Highways Manager for West Kent confirmed for Board Members that 
KCC was not resourced for TRO amendment work. Districts were expected to 
take up these works and pass the costs onto applicants. She was not aware 
of any discussions with Dartford Officers over the issue, and any proposals for 
changes to the current process would have to be approved by the KCC 
Cabinet. 

The Leader of the Council (attending as a KCC Member) discerned a process 
problem for KCC in that it could not approve TRO amendment works that 
were the stated responsibility of the Borough authority. 

His view was that the resident applicant should pay for all costs, including the 
KCC survey costs and any TRO amendment costs and that enquiries should 
be made of other Kent District authorities as to how they approached matters. 
An option would be for an approved consultant to assess all the works 
involved and for the applicant to meet all costs, apportioning payment to KCC 
and the Council as appropriate.

Given the need for both DBC and KCC Cabinet approval of any 
recommendation from their Joint Transportation Board, the Leader proposed 
that DBC and KCC Officers confer further, and submit a revised report and 
recommendation to the Board for referral to Cabinet, and in due course to the 
KCC Cabinet.

Members agreed the Leader’s proposal.

24. MEMBERS ENQUIRY ITEMS 

There were no specific enquiries raised by Members.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

13

25. ROAD WORKS IN THE BOROUGH OF DARTFORD 

The Board received the standard quarterly report from KCC Highways which 
updated Members on the roadworks currently being undertaken in the 
Borough, or expected to be undertaken during the 2018/19 financial cycle.

Developer Funded Work (Appendix E to the report)

Mr Butler (KCC) expressed concern that some of the developer funded work 
listed in Appendix E did not list start dates. He asked whether this was left to 
individual developers to set.

Other Members also expressed concern over the lack of detail in Appendix E 
and saw a need for greater dialogue between KCC and developers over 
scheduled works. In particular the need to avoid ‘toxic combinations’ of 
scheduled works by developers and utility companies, which caused severe 
disruption to residents through poor planning and lack of adequate 
consultation.

The KCC Highways Manager (West Kent) assured Members that KCC’s 
Street Managers, Development Managers and Contractors team met regularly 
on a co-ordinated basis to take forward work schemes with developers. 

KCC’s Street works Managers were also in regular contacted with the relevant 
DBC Officers over on-going and proposed works. KCC’s Development and 
Emergency Works teams employed an algorithm process to develop an ideal 
combination of works for any given scheme.

Mrs Cole (KCC Member for Dartford East) advised the Board that co-
ordinated working, particularly by utility companies, was not her experience. 
She cited a 2 year wait for gas works to be completed at the London 
Road/Manorway Junction which was still an outstanding issue, exacerbated 
by the work of Thames Water at the London Road and St. Clement’s Way. 
Works at Horns Cross had also proved to be a major inconvenience for 
`residents.

The Highways Manager assured Members that her Street Works teams 
worked as hard as possible to engage with all relevant parties over road 
works schemes to ensure the work was undertaken as speedily as possible 
with the least amount of disruption to road users and residents.

The Board noted the contents of the report.

26. KCC - ENVIRONMENT, HIGHWAYS AND WASTE 

The Board noted the Minutes of the KCC Environment & Transport Cabinet 
Committee meetings held on 15 May and 13 July 2018.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

TUESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2018

14

The meeting closed at 9.25 pm

Mrs. A Allen, MBE, KCC
CHAIRMAN



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 December 2018

MATTERS ARISING

1. Summary

1.1 This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at previous 
meetings of the Board.

2.  RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the comments in the “Update/Outcome” column of the 
Appendix A to this report

3 Background and Discussion

3.1 Previously, the Joint Transportation Board requested that a report on 
matters arising be placed on future agendas of this Board.

3.2 The matters arising are as detailed in the Appendix A to this report.

3.3 A verbal update, where applicable, will be given at the meeting of this 
Board.

4    Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

5. Appendices

Appendix A:  Matters Arising

BACKGROUND PAPERS:

None 

Contact Officers : As detailed in the Appendix to this report                      

Contact Number:
KCC Highways & Transportation      08458 247 800

Dartford Borough Council  01322 343251





Dartford Joint Transportation Board  

4 December 2018

Action Current Situation Update / Outcome
1 Fast Track – Future Developments A twice yearly update to be made to the 

Board.
A report on this issue is attached to the 
Agenda

2. Sensible Street Lighting Dartford LED conversions are substantially 
complete.  

Once further information is available KCC will 
invite Members to a briefing session and will 
be updating the programme on the KCC 
website.

3.14. Bob Dunn Way.
a) Access Issues

b) Flood alleviation

It is understood that contractor difficulties 
are delaying works, KCC Officers agreed  to 
expedite matters

KCC have decided to commission their own 
survey to allow the drainage works to 
commence.

.

The latest plan is that construction should be 
starting in April.

A Pump is located on site and this will remain 
until the works are complete.

4.15. Removal of Redundant Lamp 
columns and Stumps

Members have agreed to monitor the 
progress made in removal.  

Members have been invited to pass details of 
redundant columns to KCC for removal

5.16. Parking Issues Ingress Park This matter was considered at the June 
2017 meeting and representations received 
from the Developer and the Parking 
contractor.

Progress on work to be monitored by the 
Board.

Lining works have not yet been started and 
Mr Harman is to pursue this with Officers

6.17. Misuse of Busways by Motorists The possible deployment of a mobile CCTV 
camera to aid in deterring and prosecuting 
motorists who misuse the busways was to 
be investigated by KCC and that a report be 
presented..   

Further negotiations on the cost of CCTV are 
to be undertaken.



Dartford Joint Transportation Board  

4 December 2018

Action Current Situation Update / Outcome
718. Parking Control Issues: Common 

Lane Wilmington
A number of measures have now been 
introduced and further work is ongoing.

Members have asked that this area be 
monitored

819. Traffic Congestion arising from the 
Dartford Crossing

This issue was referred to Cabinet for 
Consideration.

A report was presented on 5 June which 
updated Members on planned mitigations.

920. Pedestrian Safety Fastrack Routes The Chairman had undertaken to contact 
the Fastrack operators on this matter.

A report on Fastrack is attached to the 
Agenda

1021. Maiden Lane Dartford
22. Traffic / Parking Issues

This issue has been raised on a number of 
occasions by Members at Board meetings 

Ms Sutton has undertaken to investigate this 
issue.

1123. Leigh Technical College area, 
Parking Issues

The Board agreed to monitor the area with a 
view to traffic regulation if problems do not 
improve.

The Transport Services Manager has been 
asked to provide an update on this matter to 
the Board Members between meetings

1224. Feedback on various traffic 
regulation issues

Heath Lane, Dartford.  At the meeting held 
on 5 June concern was raised over 
proposed KCC works and the Board 
resolved to form a working group to assess 
issues further.

1325. Access Gate between Fastrack and 
Darenth Road

This gate is currently damaged and unable 
to be closed, investigations into ownership 
underway.

This gate has now been fixed closed with a 
padlock and chain.  Proposals for the Acacia 
Hall site will impinge on this and the Board 
asked that the matter be kept under review.

1426. Increased Pavement Provision for 
A225 Dartford Road at Sutton at 
Hone and Hawley

The Board considered a request for better 
footway provision.

The Board was advised that a costed 
proposal from the relevant KCC Member 
would be considered favourably by KCC.

1527. Dropped Kerbs / Amendments to 
TRO

The Board asked for a report on this to be 
presented as soon as possible

A report on this is attached to the Agenda.



PROPOSED WAITING RESTRICTIONS, CHASTILIAN ROAD AND WENTWORTH 
DRIVE, DARTFORD

To: Dartford Joint Transportation Board – 4th December 2018

By: Tim Read, Head of Transportation, Kent County Council

Classification: Unrestricted

Ward: Heath Ward, Dartford District

Summary: This report gives details of proposed waiting restrictions in 
Chastilian Road and Wentworth Drive, Dartford, and the results 
of the second consultation.

For Recommendation

1.0 Introduction and Background

1.1 Wentworth Primary School has recently undergone an expansion. One of the impacts 
of this has been an increase in vehicle traffic at this location.

1.2 To reduce the danger to persons and vehicles using this road Kent County Council 
has proposed introducing waiting restrictions in Chastilian Road and Wentworth 
Drive.

2.0 The Proposal

2.1 There have been two consultations relating to these proposals. 

2.2 Initially the first consultation proposed the installation of double yellow lines only. 
These proposals received numerous objections and a decision was made to amend 
the proposals to reduce the impact on residents. A second consultation was 
undertaken, which took into account the feedback received from residents.

2.3 The new proposals include the installation of both double yellow lines and single 
yellow lines. The length of the double yellow lining has also been reduced and the 
double yellow line reduction replaced by single yellow line waiting restrictions with a 
time period that was carefully considered.

2.4 The proposal is to introduce no waiting at any time on Chastilian Road, Dartford on 
the north side from a point in line with the north-western kerbline of Wentworth Drive 
in south-westerly direction for 16 metres and from a point in line with the north-
eastern kerbline of Wentworth Drive in a north-easterly direction for 16 metres. No 
waiting is also proposed for Wentworth Drive on both sides from the north-eastern 
kerbline of Chastilian Road in a northerly direction for a distance of 20 metres.

2.5 It is also proposed to introduce waiting restrictions Monday to Friday from 8.00am to 
9.30am and 2.00pm and 4.30pm on Wentworth Drive, both sides from a point 20 
metres north of the north-eastern kerbline of Chastilian Road to the southern 
boundary of Wentworth Primary School.



3.0 Consultation

3.1 The proposals were placed on deposit at Dartford Borough Council and Public 
Notices were put on display at the site location. The deadline for responses was 7th 
May 2018. A copy of the Consultation Document can be seen in Appendix A

3.2 A total of 6 responses were received. No response has been received from Kent 
Police. None of the responses received were in total support of the proposals. A 
summary of the comments is made below. 

Respondent Support/Object Comments
Kent Police  No response received
Local resident Object  Concerned that visitors will 

be able to park outside their 
property

 Feels that this is no 
different to the previous 
proposal

Local resident Object  Agrees there is a need for 
waiting restrictions but only 
on the corners of 
Wentworth Drive not along 
the road

 Feels the lines are blocking 
access to free parking

 Feels the lines will just shift 
the problem to adjacent 
roads

 Feels lines on the corners 
of all roads would be 
appropriate

Local resident Object  Does not see necessity of 
putting yellow lines along 
the roads except for on the 
corners

 Concerns that their dropped 
kerb will be blocked 

Local resident Object  Feels that installing double 
yellow lines would have a 
negative impact on parking

 Feels length of lines 
proposed for Wentworth 
Drive is excessive

 Feels parking is not an 
issue currently but installing 
the lines will affect other 
roads instead

Local resident Both  Supports double yellow 
lines on the corners of 
Wentworth Drive and 
Chastilian Road

 Does not see the point of 
the single yellow lines with 
time restrictions

 Feels the single yellow lines 
will not resolve the problem 
but merely push it to 
another street

Local resident Object  Concerned that they will 
have no where to park their 
car if the lines are 



introduced
 Feels the problem will be 

pushed to neighbouring 
roads instead

 Suggests extending the zig 
zag lines to cover the whole 
of the school boundary 
instead

3.3 The main concerns appear to be that residents will not be able to park outside of their 
own houses and that parking problems will not be resolved but merely pushed to 
adjacent roads. A number of the respondents are in favour of the installation of 
double yellow lines on the corners of the roads concerned but not along the length of 
the roads.

4.1 Financial and VAT

4.1.1 None for Dartford Borough Council. 

4.2 Legal

4.2.1 None for Dartford Borough Council.

4.3     Corporate

4.3.1 None for Dartford Borough Council.

5.0 Recommendation(s)

5.1 Agree to overturn the objections and progress the Traffic Regulation Order to install 
double yellow lines and waiting restriction. The introduction of this Order is 
recommended on the grounds of improving safety for pedestrians, including school 
children, and vehicles using this road. The TRO proposals are intended to reduce the 
safety problems associated with the current inconsiderate parking, exacerbated by 
the expansion of the primary school.  Thus, this TRO proposal is intended to improve 
visibility at junctions by reducing the extents of parked cars that are causing 
obstructions. 

Contact Officer: Robert Fletcher, TRO Co-ordinator, Schemes Planning & Delivery 
Team

Reporting to: Tim Read, Head of Transportation, Kent County Council, 03000 
418181

Background Papers

Title Details of where to access copy
Whole file Highway Services, Kent County Council



Appendix A – Documents on Deposit

DOCUMENTS
on DEPOSIT



These

These documents
should remain available 

for public inspection until
7th May 2018

    In the Borough of Dartford
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

 (VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) 
CONSOLIDATION AMENDMENT No.32 ORDER 2017

    Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984



In the Borough of Dartford
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

 (VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) CONSOLIDATION 
AMENDMENT No.32 ORDER 2017

    Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

NOTICE is hereby given that the Kent County Council proposes to make the above-named 
Order under Sections 1, 2, 4 and 124 of and Part IV of Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984, the effect of which would be to: -

1. Implement Double Yellow Lines (DYL’s) (No waiting at any time) restrictions in 
the following roads 

a) Chastilian Road, Dartford

i) North side, from a point in line with the north-western kerbline of Wentworth Drive in 
a south-westerly direction for 16 metres.

ii) North side, from a point in line with the north-eastern kerbline of Wentworth Drive in a 
north-easterly direction for 16 metres

b) Wentworth Drive, Dartford

Both sides, from the north-eastern kerbline of Chastilian Road in northerly direction for a 
distance of 20 metres.

2. Implement Single Yellow Lines (SYL’s) Waiting Restrictions Mon – Fri 8.00am - 
9.30am and 3.00pm – 4.00pm in the following roads 

Schedule No. 6.13 

Wentworth Drive, Dartford

Both sides, from a point 20 metres north of the north-eastern kerbline of Chastilian Road to 
the southern boundary of Wentworth Primary School.

A copy of the proposed Order, statement of the Council’s reasons for making the proposed 
Order, a map indicating the location and the effect and a copy of any other Orders which will 
be amended by the proposed Order may be examined on Mondays to Friday at The Kent 
County Council, Sessions House, Maidstone, ME14 1XQ, The Kent County Council, 
Highway, Transportation & Waste, Ashford Highway Depot, Henwood Industrial Estate, Unit 
4 Javelin Way, Ashford, Kent TN24 8AD and at Dartford Borough Council Offices, Civic 
Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent DA1 1DR during normal office hours or viewed online 
at www.kent.gov.uk/highwaysconsultations

If you wish to offer support or object to the proposed Order you should send the grounds in 
writing to The TRO Co-ordinator, Schemes Planning & Delivery Team, Highways, 
Transportation & Waste, Kent County Council, Ashford Highway Depot, Henwood Industrial 

PUBLIC 
NOTICE

http://www.kent.gov.uk/highwaysconsultations


Estate, Javelin Way, Ashford, TN24 8AD or by email to TRO@kent.gov.uk by 12 noon 
Monday 7th May 2018.

Roger Wilkin, Director, Highways Transportation & Waste



In the Borough of Dartford
THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

 (VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) CONSOLIDATION 
AMENDMENT No.32 ORDER 2017

    Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

STATEMENT OF REASONS

The Kent County Council as traffic authority intends to make the Order referred to above and 
as shown on the drawing accompanying this document for the following reasons :-

Due to the extension to Wentworth Primary school in Wentworth Drive, Dartford and the 
increase in learners attending the school and the subsequent increase in the volume of 
vehicle traffic, it has become necessary to implement waiting restrictions in Wentworth Drive 
and Chastilian Road to avoid the danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any 
other road or for preventing the likelihood of any such danger arising.

Dated: 9th April 2018

Nikola Floodgate
Schemes Planning and Delivery Manager

STATEMENT 
OF REASONS



     THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL
     (VARIOUS ROADS, DARTFORD) 

   (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) CONSOLIDATION 
      AMENDMENT No.32 ORDER 2017

   Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL, acting as the local traffic authority and in exercise of its 
powers under Sections 1, 2, 4 and 124 of and Part IV of Schedule 9 to the Road Traffic 
Regulations Act 1984 (hereinafter referred to as the “the Act”) and of all other enabling 
powers and after consultation with the Chief Officer of Police in accordance with Part III of 
Schedule 9 to the Act of 1984, hereby makes the following Order:-

REVOCATIONS, MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS

1. There are no items to revoke.

Insertions

2. Each of the Orders specified in Schedule 1 to this Order are hereby inserted to the 
extent identified in that Schedule

3. In Table 1 thereto the table “Waiting Restrictions” shall be amended by the addition of 
the provision set out in Schedule 2 to this Order

Citation and Commencement

4. This Order maybe cited as ‘The Kent County Council (Various Roads, Dartford) 
(Prohibition of Waiting) Consolidation (Amendment No.32) Order 2017’ and shall come 
into operation on the ** day of *********** 2018.

GIVEN under the Common Seal of The Kent County Council 

This           day of                            2018

THE COMMON SEAL OF THE
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL
Was hereunto affixed
In the presence of: -

Authorised signatory



LIST OF SCHEDULES

Schedule 1

5.01 No waiting at any time

6.13 Waiting Restrictions Mon – Fri 8.00am - 9.30am and 2.00pm – 4.30pm

Schedule 2

Table 1 - Waiting Restrictions
SCHEDULE 1

SCHEDULE OF INSERTIONS

The following are to be inserted into ‘The Kent County Council (Various Roads, 
Dartford) (Prohibition of Waiting) Consolidation Order 2009’:

Items to be inserted into:

Schedule No 5.01 No waiting at any time

Chastilian Road, Dartford

a) North side, from a point in line with the north-western kerbline of Wentworth Drive in 
south-westerly direction for 16 metres.

b) North side, from a point in line with the north-eastern kerbline of Wentworth Drive in 
north-easterly direction for 16 metres

Wentworth Drive, Dartford

Both sides, from the north-eastern kerbline of Chastilian Road in northerly direction for a 
distance of 20 metres.

Schedule No. 6.13 Waiting Restrictions Mon – Fri 8.00am - 9.30am and 2.00pm – 
4.30pm

Wentworth Drive, Dartford

Both sides, from a point 20 metres north of the north-eastern kerbline of Chastilian Road to 
the southern boundary of Wentworth Primary School.

SCHEDULE 2

The following are to be inserted into ‘The Kent County Council (Various Roads, 
Dartford) (Prohibition of Waiting) Consolidation Order 2009’:

Items to be inserted into:

Table 1 – Waiting Restrictions

 Column 1 Column 2 Column 3

Schedule 
Number

Days and times of Operation Exemptions in Article 9

6.13 Monday to Friday between the hours of 
8:00am and 9:30am and 2:00pm and 4:30pm

a(1), a(2), a(3), a(4), a(5), 
a(6), b(1) and b(2)







 
 

FASTRACK BRIEFING FOR DARTFORD JTB (04.12.2018) 
______________________________________________________________________ 

OPERATIONAL MATTERS: 

Fastrack Busway Enforcement: 

As previously reported, in Spring 2018 Dartford Borough Council (DBC) received a proposal 
from SEA Roadflow for the deployment of a ROADflow Flexi system trial for Fastrack. 
Following liaison between officers at DBC and Kent County Council (KCC) Public Transport, 
KCC agreed to fund this trial. A start date of mid November was agreed and at the time of 
writing this report, final logistical arrangements are being made (permit applications etc.).  
The trial will take place on the Ingress Park – Greenhithe Station busway section where 
previous concerns on contraventions have been raised. A full report will be submitted to JTB 
in due course. 

 
Ingress Park – Tiltman Avenue - Manor Way Link: 

Fastrack service B began using the Tiltman Avenue / Manor Way link on September 3rd 
2018, following confirmation from Crest Nicholson that the road was available for buses and 
that they would not be affected by ongoing development works (e.g. at the Community 
Centre). To complement the change of route, a revised timetable was introduced which 
provided increased recovery time and revised driver change over points. With reference to 
the attached plan, the following situation applies with respect to bus stop infrastructure to 
support the change:  

Sites 1 & 3 – shelters to be progressed at later date if a funding source can be identified. 
Fastrack is currently stopping opposite the existing marked stops. Site 3 has been marked 
with a temporary stop and has been subject to consultation for a permanent pole and flag 
(covered later in this report). 
 
Sites 2 & 4 – To be replaced with Clearchannel Shelters and added to KCC’s maintenance 
agreement. Clearchannel are forming quotes and the shelters will be replaced ASAP. 
 
Sites 5 & 6 – Clearchannel shelters to be delivered by Crest and added to KCC’s 
maintenance agreement with Clearchannel. An update has bee requested from Crest 
 
Sites 7 & 8 – To be delivered by Crest at a later date (as part of future development) and 
added to KCC’s maintenance agreement with Clearchannel. 
 
Ingress Abbey (opp) bus stop: 
 
Following the introduction of the extension to Fastrack into Ingress Park several additional 
bus stops were installed to support the service. One existing location, the ‘opposite Ingress 
Abbey’ stop, required consultation as the properties nearby are already populated. Siting of 
a stop at this location was a requirement when planning permission was granted however. 
 

 



The consultation document for this stop was sent to all properties in the surrounding area for 
a total of twenty properties. The document referred to an initial installation of a bus stop pole, 
flag and timetable case but also referred to a possible shelter in the future if appropriate 
funding is identified. 
 
Of the twenty properties consulted a single response was received objecting to the 
installation of a bus stop at this location. The objection, received from a property adjacent to 
the stop, cited concerns over privacy as passengers wait near their front door for the bus to 
arrive. Additionally, they were concerned about the behaviour of members of the public who 
may litter, provide noise pollution and smoke close enough to their property they would be 
impacted. They suggested an alternative location near The Boulevard would be more 
appropriate. 

The stop had already been identified during planning and would have been known by the 
solicitors and developers when the property was sold. Kent County Council policy is that 
stops are only removed or relocated if valid concerns regarding safety are raised that were 
not considered during the initial assessment. Additionally, the alternative location suggested 
by the respondent is approximately 280 metres away which would create a large gap in stop 
distance on the route and move it too far away from the existing partner stop. As the only 
objection was related to anti-social behaviour it is recommended that the stop be installed as 
originally consulted. 

Service Reliability and Punctuality: 

Following some concerns in Summer 2018 when the level of service disruption was high 
(e.g. roadworks at Ebbsfleet United), KCC have noticed an improvement in the reliability in 
the service and a drop in the number of complaints received. It is out belief that this can be 
attributed to the change of timetable in September 2018.  

We continue to monitor performance closely through Inspector observations. Prologis 
continue to engage regularly with Arriva on the performance of Fastrack A. 

TfL Service 96: 

As previously reported at this committee, since December 2017 TfL service 96 has been 
using the section of Fastrack busway between Bluewater and Darent Valley Hospital (DVH) 
in order to provide a service to the hospital with the same peak vehicle requirement. The 96 
previously used the section of busway between Gore Road and Dovedale Road but this has 
since stopped since a change to Watling Street 

Operating Contract for Fastrack B: 

The current operating contract for Fastrack B expires in April 2019. A short term extension 
will be in place with the incumbent operator for a period of 4 months. A tender exercise is 
underway for the replacement contract.  

Soft Landscapes Commission: 
 
KCC Public Transport have an ongoing call off commission with the KCC Soft Landscapes 
Team for Fastrack to cover vegetation clearance / maintenance on Fastrack busways when 
required. This provides additional coverage to the usual cut levels. If problems are observed 
with vegetation on Fastrack routes please advise dan.bruce@kent.gov.uk who will raise with 
the Soft Landscapes Team. 
 

mailto:dan.bruce@kent.gov.uk


Real Time Information (RTI): 
 
Any issues observed at screens on route B should be reported to the Fastrack mailbox: 
Info.Go-Fastrack@kent.gov.uk. Screen issues on route A should be reported to Prologis or 
to the Fastrack mailbox from where they will be passed on.  

FUTURE FASTRACK DEVELOPMENT: 

Governance – Fastrack Advisory Board (FAB) and Working Group 

As reported previously, work has been ongoing for some time looking at the future 

development of Fastrack, which is seen as key to the transport strategy for Ebbsfleet. There 

is a need to push Fastrack forwards to realise the full network plan and to provide a system 

which meets the transport demands of the growing population in the area.   

To support this work, a Fastrack Advisory Board (FAB) has now been established which has 

representation from Dartford Borough Council, Gravesham Borough Council, Ebbsfleet 

Development Corporation (EDC) and Kent County Council. It is the intention that private 

sector stakeholders (e.g. Land Securities / Prologis) will be invited to meetings as deemed 

appropriate by the Board. Two meetings have been held to date with discussion taking place 

on the key projects required to push the full network forward. 

A number of projects have been identified to realise full Fastrack network status by 2022. 

The intention is for a full communications strategy to be developed in the coming months in 

order to promote the intended full network and its phasing.  

To support the FAB, an officer working group is also in place consisting of officer 
representation from the same partners. 

Staff resource  

To support the future development, a dedicated Fastrack Engineer within KCC’s Major 

Projects Team is in place and is working closely with EDC on key civils projects such as the 

Eastern Quarry spine road and Bean Road Tunnels link.  

In addition, KCC are in the process of recruiting a Fastrack Development Manager who will 

be responsible for such areas as future procurement strategy, operating models, adoption of 

Fastrack A / development of new route C, detailed business cases, land acquisitions, 

developer contributions etc. 

Specific Project updates: 

Bean Road Tunnels 

The preliminary bat roost assessment of the tunnels in August 2018 has identified potential 

roosting features that could be used by low numbers of roosting bats throughout the year, 

including during the winter period (hibernation). Automated/static surveys were undertaken 

in September and October 2018 to help establish whether the two tunnels are used for 

swarming. Three dusk emergence surveys were also undertaken on 20 September 2018, 3 

October 2018 and 18 October 2018. Up to three brown long-eared bats and five Myotis bats 

were observed resting in the tunnel during the swarming period over the survey visits above. 

mailto:Info.Go-Fastrack@kent.gov.uk


A pipistrelle species was also observed before sunset flying in the northern and southern 

tunnels on 20 September 2018 and 3 October 2018, respectively. Due to the time before 

sunset it is highly likely that these bats were roosting in the tunnels during the day. Mitigation 

measures will be required and will need to form part of the planning application proposed for 

Spring 2019. 

Following initial feasibility work undertaken by consultant Arup the next phase of final outline 

design, preparation of a planning application and preparation of a NEC Design & Build works 

contract has been subject to a mini competition. The commission has recently been awarded 

to Jacobs and their work will commence in November 2018 with intrusive and geotechnical 

investigations to inform the tunnel and highway infrastructure design. 

Feasibility Schemes 

A programme of Fastrack civil projects has been identified to deliver infrastructure and 

improve operational arrangements to complete the delivery of the Fastrack Full Network. 

Consultant Peter Brett Associates (PBA) have recently been awarded a scheme feasibility 

study for five project locations on the existing network including VISSIM modelling of the 

existing Route A and B. PBA have already undertaken modelling work for EDC / KCC and 

produced a VISSIM model for the Ebbsfleet Garden City that can be developed for this 

commission. The five locations on the Fastrack Network being considered are: 

• Fastrack Northfleet Embankment to Gravesend; 

• M25 J1B Fastrack bridge; 

• A206 Crossways Boulevard Priority Lanes; 

• B262 Springhead Road Bus Priority & Infrastructure; 

• A226 Galley Hill Road Improvements (High Street, Swanscombe and Lower Road 

junction) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report by Dan Bruce – Policy, Infrastructure and Community Team Leader, KCC Public 
Transport 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Highway Improvements in Your Area 
 

Installation of permanent bus stop to serve Fastrack  
 

 
What are we planning to do? 

 Kent County Council (KCC) Highways and Transportation are intending to install a permanent bus stop 
on Ingress Park Avenue, opposite the existing marked bus stop named “Ingress Abbey”. The work will 
formalise the bus stop position as agreed through the planning process linked to the Ingress Park 
development. Works will initially consist of a bus stop pole, flag and timetable case with the potential 
installation of a bus shelter to follow at a later date, subject to funding.  

 
 Whe Where will the works take place? 
 The scheme involves works on Ingress Park Avenue between the roundabouts for Palladian Circus and 

Lightermans Way. Please see marked up image overleaf. 
 
Why do we want to do this work? 
Fastrack service B began operating two way through Ingress Park from 3rd September 2018. The long 
standing planning agreement for Ingress Park identifies that upon the introduction of two way working 
through the development, this location would be established as a bus stop to serve intending passengers 
travelling eastbound towards Gravesend. This work will see the installation of a bracketed bus stop pole, 
bus stop flag and timetable information case. It is the intention that a bus stop shelter will also be installed 
at a later date, subject to funding and in line with the planning process. Should a shelter progress an 
advisory notice will be sent to all nearby properties.  
 
How will we carry out the work and how will it affect you? 
Generally, the works will involve localised coning and barriers in order that the work can be carried out 
safely. Disruption will be kept to a minimum. 
 

When will the work start and how long will it take? 
We intend for the works to be completed by the end of January 2019 and the work should take no longer 
than 1 – 2 hours to complete. 
 
How to contact us? 
This information is being provided to raise awareness of these improvements. If you have any concerns  
about how these works will affect you please write to: 
Kent County Council, Public Transport, P.O. Box 441, Aylesford, Kent, ME6 9HJ,  
 
Alternatively, you can email your comments to: bus.stops@kent.gov.uk. 
 
Comments will be received up until noon on Monday 5th November 2018  
 

 

Please keep this in a safe place so you can refer to it. If you need to contact us 

whilst the works are being done – call us on 03000 418181 

 

 

 

WARNING – Beware Bogus Callers 
Kent Highways do not allow works to be carried out on private properties.  If anyone says they are working for Kent 

Highways or our specialist contractors and offer to carry out any work for cash they should be treated with caution and 
you are advised to contact Kent County Council Trading Standards on 03000 414141 

mailto:bus.stops@kent.gov.uk


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Approximate location of 
bus stop following 
installation.  



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018

VEHICLE CROSSOVER INSTALLATIONS

1. Summary

1.1 This report follows the discussion at the previous Board meeting on 4 
September 2018 (Note No. 23) at which it was reported that Kent County 
Council provides a chargeable service for vehicle crossover installations and 
that it is the district authorities’ responsibility to complete any Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) work resulting. This report considers further the effect 
of that stipulation on this Council.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Board consider the implications of Kent County Council’s service 
offer on Dartford Borough Council’s resources, as outlined in the body of the 
report.

2.2 That Cabinet be recommended to consider the appropriateness of the 
approach detailed in paragraph 3.6 and recommend to Cabinet the approach 
be developed and implemented.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The pressure of increased vehicle ownership levels has increased the 
demand for on-street parking in residential streets, especially when 
private residences have little or no off-street parking provision. This has 
led to some home owners converting (or applying to convert) a part of 
their property into off-street parking provision. Processes with Kent 
County Council (KCC) and district authorities facilitate vehicle 
crossover installations to access the new provisions.

3.2. KCC’s process places the onus on residents to complete a process, 
which may be perceived as being complicated and could, perhaps, be 
simplified. This is particularly so where the desired crossover is to be 
installed through a regulated parking bay.

3.3. In such cases, it is for the district council to consider whether the 
desired crossover can be accommodated without detriment to the 
overall parking management of the area and whether, or not, to allow it 
to proceed.  At this point the applicant has already paid to KCC its fee 
of £350, only half of which will be refunded if the district council feels 
unable to approve the application. 

3.4. If the district council is minded to approve the application, it will then 
incur costs to amend the relevant TRO and associated lines and signs.  
KCC’s process therefore places a requirement on district authorities to 
undertake a process and commit resources when no process has 
actually been agreed by this Council. In such circumstances it would be 
necessary for the Council to recoup its costs from the applicant. In the 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018

interests of transparency all fees should be known to the applicant at 
the outset. 

3.5. The matter was considered in some detail at the last meeting of the 
Board when Officers were instructed to confer further and submit a 
revised report and recommendation. Members’ aspirations were for a 
more coherent, ‘joined up’ and transparent process.

3.6. Unfortunately, the Council has not been able to positively influence 
KCC to consider adopting a more customer centric process; however, it 
is proposed that this Council provides the following support services:

3.6.1. That this Council adds a web page to the Council’s ‘Parking – 
Everything else’ page as follows:

Vehicle crossover installations

In support of ‘Kent County Council’s vehicle crossover service’ 
[URL], the following applies should your new crossover need to be 
installed through a ‘regulated parking bay’ such as a permit or 
limited waiting bay.

Regulations require a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) which is a 
legal Order enabling regulations under the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 (RTRA) to be installed. The TRO will need to be amended 
if your vehicle crossover is installed through a parking bay and a 
cost applies in this case.

Regulations installed under the RTRA must be lined and signed in 
accordance with the Traffic Signs Regulations and General 
Directions 2016 and the amendment of a bay will require the lines 
and/or signs to be amended and costs will apply.

The schedule of rates for amending a TRO and the signs and lines 
is:

Activity Cost Notes

Application fee £75

Administration fee for considering 
applications for a TRO and bay 
lining and signing amendments.
A formal notification will be 
provided to satisfy KCC’s ‘Vehicle 
Crossing: - Guidance and Self 
Assessment’requirements 
detailed in Section 10 for Parking 
Bays.

Change bay marking:
Shorten bay £100 Burn out bay and re-line to 

amended length.
Change bay marking:

Split bay in two £200 Burn out bay and re-line each 
‘half’ to amended lengths.

Sign post removal £100 Remove and make good.

Sign post installation £150 Up to two necessary when a bay 
is split.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018

TRO amendment
(By a nominated 

consultant)
£370

Includes drafting of the 
amendment and compilation of 
the ‘proposes to make’ 
consultation documentation; two 
newspaper adverts (‘proposes’ 
and ‘has made’ stages of the 
statutory process); final drafting of 
the amendment and compilation 
of the ‘has made’ documentation; 
and submission to KCC for 
‘Sealing’ of the TRO.

An application to the Council will include a technical review of the 
works necessary, confirmation of the relevant cost and timeline to 
facilitate a vehicle crossover where a parking bay is installed. This 
information will enable you to liaise with KCC to continue its 
process.

No application is necessary when there is no parking bay installed 
in the location of the vehicle crossover.

End of web page information.

3.7. Council officers must manage the overall process in order to ensure:

3.7.1. The loss of parking capacity from a scheme can be accommodated.

3.7.2. Confirm the TRO amendment required to the consultant.

3.7.3. Arrange the statutory advertising for the TRO amendment and 
consider comments received (statutory process).

3.7.4. Apply to KCC for the Sealing of the TRO (existing KCC process).

3.7.5. Arrange efficiently the lining and signing alongside other work to be 
completed.

3.8. The Board is asked to consider the appropriateness of the approach 
detailed in paragraph 3.4 and recommend to Cabinet that the approach 
be further developed and implemented with fees set as at 3.6.1 above.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The service is to be cost neutral with the 
introduction of a schedule of rates to complete 
the necessary TRO and lining and signing 
amendments.

Legal Implications A TRO is a legal document and must be 
amended via a statutory process in order to 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018

enable continued administration of Civil Parking 
Enforcement of parking management regulations.

Staffing Implications A decision to proceed with the new service 
delivery will require technical resource support for 
the TRO amendment process and this may be 
provided by a consultant. The technical review of 
the application and the provision of a formal 
response can be completed with existing 
resource.

Administrative Implications As outlined above.

Risk Assessment A decision to proceed with new service delivery 
will place additional pressure on the Council’s 
limited resources.
The cost of the new service delivery may prove 
too expensive for KCC’s applicants leading to 
failed applications by KCC’s customers and 
disgruntled residents.
A decision not to proceed with new service 
delivery will result in KCC having to review its 
service delivery and advise its applicants 
accordingly i.e. either resource its service in its 
entirety or reject applications for households’ 
adjacent parking bays.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Not applicable.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Vehicle crossover 
installations

- Principal Transport 
Planner

(01322) 343434

Regenerati
on

External 
Services 

Directorate

N/A



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE TRANSPORT AND PUBLIC REALM 
IMPROVEMENTS

Town, Princes and Brent Wards

1 Summary

1.1 This report provides an update to the previous report dated 12 April 2018, sets 
out the finalised outline design for Market St, summarises activities completed 
and sets out the planned progression of the scheme design, consultation and 
engagement and installation Works.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:

Joint Transportation Board

2.1 That this report is considered and comments passed to Cabinet.

Cabinet

2.2 That the finalised Outline design for Market St, as shown at Appendix A, be 
agreed as the basis for developing the detailed design for the Market St scheme, 
with delegated authority granted to the Managing Director in liaison with the 
Leader of the Council to agree the detailed design.

2.3 That Officers continue liaison with bus operators to identify the most appropriate 
arrangement for bus stop provision.

2.4    That Cabinet note the proposed appointment of Amey via the KCC Framework 
to carry out the construction Works for the Market St scheme.

2.5 That the High Street area be added to the scope of the project, with Officers 
seeking to identify appropriate funding to this additional element. In the event 
that insufficient funding is identified, delegated authority is granted to the 
Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council to meet any 
funding shortfall from the Council’s earmarked reserves.

3. Background and Discussion

Funding

3.1. The project funding Agreement was completed on 17 August 2018. The 
total project budget value of £12M is split as £7.7M funded by Homes 
England (HE) and £4.3M funded by the Local Growth Fund (LGF). 



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

3.2. Kent CC Highways are fulfilling the role of Accountable Authority under 
the Agreement. A positive working relationship has been developed, and 
regular contact maintained.

Phasing and Programme

3.3. Initial Phasing proposals were prepared by the Council’s design 
consultants and these formed part of the Business Case submission 
from which project funding was secured.

3.4. This has been subsequently reviewed to seek to follow a logical flow of 
work, whilst also accelerating to better meet the project spend profile 
requirements. The high level programme Roadmap for the project is 
included at Appendix B of this report.

3.5. Proposed phasing is as follows:

 Phase 1: Market Street (including Market Place, part of the High 
Street and part of Lowfield Street).

 Phase 2: Junction improvements at the junctions of Lowfield 
Street/Instone Road, Instone Road/Highfield Road, Highfield 
Road/West Hill/Spital Street, along with urban realm 
improvements for the extents between each junction and adjacent 
Highway.

 Phase 3: Hythe Street.
 Phase 4: Junction improvements at the junctions of Hythe 

Street/Home Gardens and Home Gardens/East Hill/Overy 
Liberty.

3.6. The Outline design has been completed for Phase 1 and was submitted 
to Kent CC Highways on 2-11-18 to commence the Technical Audit 
process.

3.7. The Detailed design stage for Phase 1 has now commenced, scheduled 
to be complete in late January 2019.

3.8. It is intended to award the Works contract in February 2019, ahead of a 
commencement on site in late May 2019. 

3.9. The Outline design stage for Phase 2 is scheduled to commence in 
January 2019.

3.10. It is proposed to add the High Street area to the scope of the project as 
Phase 1a. It may be possible to be incorporated within the current project 
budget. However, if sufficient funding cannot be made available from 
existing funds, the Council may be required to fund any potential 
shortfall. Any decision as to proceed with the inclusion will be subject to 
a review following assessment of the budget once further detail is 
available for the estimated cost of Phase 2 (the 4 no. junctions).



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Scheme Design

3.11. The scheme design shall follow the phasing as set out above. 

3.12. The first phase, Phase 1: Market Street will incorporate the following key 
features (see Appendix A):

 The establishment of a new urban square entitled Brewery Square, 
predominantly by the provision of 4 No. pocket parks, to introduce 
pleasant green urban realm areas. The use of this name seeks to 
make reference to the rich history of brewing in the Market Street 
area and to introduce a link to the historic past of Dartford.

 Narrowing of the carriageway to calm traffic and improve 
pedestrian movement between the town centre and Central 
Park/Brewery Square.

 Relocation of the TfL bus services to Home Gardens (westbound 
only – eastbound stops are already located at Home Gardens).

 The use of high quality and long lasting natural stone materials. 
Examples of these can be viewed in the small Test Area in the 
southwest corner of Market St that was installed as part of an 
engagement exercise in late October 2018 which remains in-situ.

 Retention of all short term parking, by reallocation of spaces to 
bays at the side of the Highway and including some use of the 
existing small car parking area to the rear of the Iceland store.

Engagement

3.13. By way of a furtherance of the previous Consultation activities already 
completed, new letter drops were made to all business and frontages in 
Market Street, Lowfield Street, Market Place and the High Street. 

3.14. The letter drops were then followed up with individual short meetings 
(c95 No.), where, in addition to providing a detailed explanation of the 
Phase 1 scheme proposals, contact details and loading and access 
arrangements were captured – and have been incorporated in an 
engagement schedule, to track and provide continuity in contact and 
interaction with correspondents.

3.15. Through this in depth consultation exercise, from feedback and 
observations that arose, it was decided to revise the Outline design to 
incorporate improved loading facilities.

3.16. Feedback was generally very positive.

3.17. A small Test Area has been installed to the southwest corner of the 
Market Street area. The intention of this was mutli-faceted : to provide 
updated imagery and information regarding the scheme proposals, 
examples of the actual types of materials and construction quality to be 
expected with the project; and to provide ongoing engagement with the 
public on the scheme and continue to receive feedback as the detailed 
design of the scheme progresses.  



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Management Arrangements

3.18. The project is being managed by a dedicated Programme Manager, who 
has specific experience of urban realm regeneration projects. 

Procurement

3.19. The scheme has been progressed through the Concept Design stages 
by the consultant Project Centre Limited (PCL). PCL have also carried 
out the design for the Outline stage, and have been commissioned to 
progress the Detailed stage, for Phase 1 Market Street. Discussions are 
now ongoing as to the procurement of design consultancy services for 
the Outline Design stage for Phase 2.

3.20. In the previous report dated 12 April 2018, reference was made to the 
intention to appoint the major contractor Balfour Beaty via the Scape 
Procurement Framework for the installation phase of the project. 
However, through development of the project, this has been subject to 
review and it is now considered that it would be more advantageous to 
use a contractor and supply chain with a more local knowledge and who 
has greater familiarity with the requirements of gaining approvals and 
carrying out work in Kent.

3.21. Accordingly, it is intended that the Works phase will be carried out by the 
Kent CC framework contractor Amey, procured under agreement/licence 
with Kent CC.

3.22. Other smaller items of service shall be procured as required.

Reporting

3.23. It is recognised that a project of this type has many stakeholders and 
interested parties within the Council and within the Council’s partner 
organisations, such as Kent CC Highways. 

3.24. A project Steering Group consisting of the project leads from the Council, 
Kent CC Highways and the Council’s design consultant has been 
convened and progress update meetings are held at monthly intervals.

3.25. In addition, a Project Board has been established, incorporating the 
senior management of the Council and Kent CC Highways. The Board 
is to meet on a quarterly basis.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

ED 3. Improve the economic performance of the Town Centre
ED 4. Ensure the delivery of timely transport infrastructure
ET 4. Ensure a high quality street scene

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Financial Implications The project is fully funded by external sources 
and there is no planned financial impact to the 
Council. 
However, as noted in item 2.4 and 3.10 of this 
report, it is proposed to introduce the High Street 
area to the scope of the project.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder duty 

None

N/A

N/A

Staffing Implications The Council has secured an independent 
specialist consultant to act as Programme 
Manager for the project. The role is fully funded 
by the project and costed within the budget for 
the full programme duration.

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment Some reputational risk in terms of delivery.
Also refer to item 2.1 and the financial 
implications section of this report.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Market St Scheme Design [Drawing 1000004700-3-SK37, 
Plan image, CGI image]
Appendix B - High Level Programme Roadmap [Rev 1, 1-11-18]

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Keith Longley, 
Dartford Town Centre 
Scheme Programme 
Manager

Section and
Directorate

Regeneration

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018







R12.00

M
A

R
K

E
T

 S
T

R
E

E
T

(A
2
2
6
)

ONLY BUS

L
O

O
K

 R
IG

H
T

L
O

O
K

 R
IG

H
T

L
O

O
K

 L
E

F
T

SL
OW

AL
DI

SH
OP

S

AL
DI

SH
OPS

ALDISHOPS

LO
ADING

 O
NLY

LOADING ONLY

DISABLED

DISABLED

DISABLED

LO
AD

IN
G 

ON
LY

LO
AD

IN
G 

ON
LY

LOADING ONLY DISABLED

OVERY LIBERTY(A226)

MARKET STREET(A226)

LO
W

F
IE

LD
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 (

A
22

6)

H
O

M
E

 G
A

R
D

E
N

S
 (A

226)

EAST HILL (A226)

SCHEME EXTENTS

SCHEME EXTENTS

SC
H

EM
E EXTEN

TS

SCHEME EXTENTS

BELLWAY
DEVELOPMENT

DARTFORD
BOROUGH
MUSEUM

ACACIA
DEVELOPMENT

ICELAND

HOLY
TRINITY
CHURCH

PRIORY
CENTRE

ORCHARDS
SHOPPING
CENTRE

THE
ORCHARD

CENTRAL
PARK

O
V

E
R

Y
 S

T
R

E
E

T

M
A

R
K

E
T

 P
L
A

C
E

B

B

4.10

B
B B

B B
B B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

STOP
BUS

STOP
BUS

STO
PBUS

STO
P

BUS

TA
XI

S

TA
XI

S

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

LOADING ONLY

3.00

3.
00

2.
00

0.
30

2.
70

F-P

LEGEND

New footway paving slabs, granite
Mixed sizes and colours - 400 x 300/400/600mm

New granite kerb, 300 x 200 mm

New footway block paving, granite
Mixed sizes and colours - 100 x 100/200/400mm

New 300mm wide granite setts strip adjacent
to building frontage - 100 x 100 mm

New parking bay block paving, granite
150 x 300 x 180 mm

New granite paving at crossings,
150 x 300 x 180 mm

New granite paving raised table,
150 x 300 x 180 mm

New carriageway resurfacing

New Porphory setts, granite -  Fan pattern
100 x 100 mm

New block paving ramps, granite
150 x 300 x 180 mm

NOTES

1. For section details refer to drawing
1000004700-3-01-015.

2. Material palette is currently under development, further
details to be provided.

3. All units are in metres unless otherwise specified.

New granite edge kerb - 500 mm wide

New granite kerb, 150 x 200 mm

Highway Boundary

New grass area

New planting area, details TBC

New Magma blister tactile paving for
uncontrolled crossing. (Dimensions TBC)

New tree species and details TBC

New Sheffield cycle stands.

New lighting column. Locations based on
design using KCC standard lighting
specification

New seating units

Land acquisition boundary by DBC

New red tactile paving for controlled crossing.
400 x 400mm

New traffic signals

Rev DescriptionDate

A1

Chk
This drawing has been specifically prepared to meet the requirements of the named client and may
contain design and innovative features which differ from conventional design standards.

Client

Project

Drawing Title

Drawing Status

Drawing No.

Size

Rev

Drn App

DateDrawn ScaleDesigned

Office Registered in England No. 02625312   |   Unit 2 Holford Yard, London, WC1X 9HD   |   www.projectcentre.co.uk

05/11/2018 12:46:23 | G:\Project Centre\CAD\00-PROJECT\1000004700\Sketches\1000004700-3-SK37.dwg | NPatel | ----PLOT DATE: CAD REFERENCE:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. (100032379) (2018)     |    Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right (2018)

Unit 2 Holford Yard
London
WC1X 9HD
Tel. 0330 0080 855
Mail. info@projectcentre.co.uk
Web. www.projectcentre.co.uk

DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE
PHASE 1

OVERVIEW PROPOSED LAYOUT

FOR INFORMATION

NP NP NOV 2018 N.T.S

1000004700-3-SK37-00 -

- 26/10/2018 ORIGINAL ISSUE JLB LL KL

DRAWING ISSUE DISCLAIMER
THIS DRAWING HAS BEEN PRODUCED FOR INFORMATION AND OR

DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS UNCONTROLLED.
 IT DOES NOT FORM ANY PART OF THE CONTRACTUAL DRAWING

SET AND IS NOT FOR PUBLICATION.

UNCONTROLLED DOCUMENT

DRAFT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
BUS STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
BUS STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
SHEFFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
STANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
CYCLE STANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
CCTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
CCTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
P.BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
BIKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
RACKS

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
BIKE RACKS

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
SEAT





Dartford Town Centre Regeneration
Project Timeline Roadmap

* Subject to funding agreement

Printed 05/11/2018

Sheet 1

Revision: Rev 1   1‐11‐18 KJL

STATUS

PHASE 1
Market 
Street

PHASE 2
Instone Rd/ 
Highfield 

Rd/ 
Spital St

PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

June 
2019

July 
2019

August 
2019

September
2019

October 
2019

September 
2018

October 
2018

November 
2018

December 
2018

January 
2019

March 
2019

April 
2019

May 
2019

February 
2019

November 
2019

December 
2019

January 
2020

February 
2020

March 
2020

April 
2020

May 
2020

Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) 
c12 wks

Contract mobilisation/ordering c12 wks

Construction phase c38 weeks

Detailed Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 4)

25‐1‐19

Commencement 
20‐5‐19

Completion 
21‐2‐20

Contractor ECI

Contract Award
8‐2‐19

Contract Price Rev 
(if req’d) 
19‐4‐19

Tech Approval 
Stage1 

16‐11‐18 7‐12‐18

Tech Audit & 
RSA1 c5 wks

Tech Approval 
Stage2 
12‐4‐19

Technical Audit & RSA2 c10 wks

Confirm revised 
budget
30‐11‐18

Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) c18 weeksOutline Design (RIBA St 3) c12 weeksCompletion of Concept 
Design (RIBA 2) c5 wks

Tech Audit & RSA1 c10 wks

Contractor ECI

Tech Audit & RSA2 c12 weeks

Contractor pricing Contract mobilisation/ordering c12 wks

Contractor 
pricing

PHASE 4
Hythe St/ 
Home 

Gardens/ 
Wesgate
Road PR

O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) c12 wksOutline Design (RIBA Stage 3) c10 wks

Tech Audit & RSA1 c12 wks

Contractor ECI

Tech Audit & RSA2 
c12 weeks

• Construction completes early December 2020 Construction phase c40 weeks

• Tech Audit & RSA2 completes late July 2020 
• Contractor pricing completes Late July 2020
• Contract mobilisation/ordering, starts August 2020
• Construction commences January 2021
• Construction phase c20 weeks
• Construction completes late May 2021 

PHASE 5
PHASE 6
West Hill
Home 

Gardens PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

Outline Design (RIBA Stage 3) c10 wksCompletion of Concept Design 
(RIBA Stage 2) c4 wks

• Tech Audit & RSA1 completes late July 2020
• Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) completes November 2020
• Tech Audit & RSA2 completes  February 2021
• Contract mobilisation/ordering, starts February 2021
• Construction commences June 2021
• Construction phase c16 weeks
• Construction completes late October 2021  Tech Audit & RSA1 

c12 weeks

Bellway 
Development

Muse
Development

PROGRAMME

PROGRAMME

Outline Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 3)
1‐10‐18 2‐11‐18

PHASE 1a*
High Street

PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

Detailed Design (RIBA 
Stage 4) c8 wks

Outline Design 
(RIBA St 3) c4 wks

Tech Audit & RSA1 
c6 wks

Contractor pricing

Outline Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 3)

8‐2‐19

DBC propose inclusion in project 
scope at Project Board meeting

29‐11‐18

Tech Approval 
Stage1 
22‐3‐19

Technical Audit & RSA2 
c8 wks

Tech Approval 
Stage2 28‐6‐19

Detailed Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 4)

3‐5‐19

Commencement 
9‐9‐19

Construction phase c24 weeks

Completion 
21‐2‐20

Contract mob/ordering c12 wksContractor ECI

Contract Award
9‐6‐19

Contract Price Rev 
(if req’d) 
19‐7‐19

Completion of Concept 
Design (RIBA 2) c5 wks

Completion of Concept 
Design (RIBA 2) c5 wks





JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 December 2018

PETITION

1. SUMMARY
The following petition has been submitted for consideration by the Joint 
Transportation Board by Local Commuters requesting the re zoning of Dartford 
Railway Station from Travelcard Zone 8 to Zone 7.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Board note the receipt of the petition and the respective information 
thereon and Instruct Officers on any further action to be taken.

3. Petition: Re - Zoning of Dartford Station from Travelcard Zone 8 to Zone 7

3.1 A petition containing 23 signatures requesting that the Council to Lobby 
Transport for London - to change the TravelCard Zoning of Dartford Railway 
Station from Zone 8 to Zone 7 has been received.

3.2 The petition stated that: 

a) Railway stations at Crayford, Slade Green and Barnehurst are all in TfL 
Zone 6 and are roughly 14 miles from Charing Cross.  Dartford is 15 
miles from Charing Cross, how is it that 1 mile can represent 2 fare 
zones?

b) Furthermore, there are no stations in Zone 7 in the S.E. London/Kent 
area. People travelling from Dartford have to pay approximately £800 a 
year more to travel to Zone 1 than those travelling from 1 mile further 
up the line.

c) It should also be noted that if the whole journey from Dartford to 
Charing Cross was charged at this rate, the daily cost of a return 
journey from Dartford to London would be £54.

d) We are therefore asking Dartford Council to insist that Transport for 
London rectify this anomaly, and treat the commuters of Dartford fairly 
by re-classifying Dartford Station as a Zone 7 station. 

4. Background

4.1 Dartford Station has very recently been placed in Zone 8, following the 
Direct Award contract.  It was previously outside the Oyster Travelcard 
area, and when the area was extended it was zoned according to the 
most appropriate fare level for this station.  When it was launched there 
was in fact a price drop for single fares to and from the station.  

4.2 While the placement of Dartford in Zone 8 - relative to the geographical 
location of Crayford, and Barnehurst which are in Zone 6 - is a valid 



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 December 2018

point, fares unfortunately are not based on distances from London, and 
these have evolved over many years as a result of flexibility within 
fares regulation and commercial pricing approaches. 

4.3 Dartford had higher fares than Barnehurst at the time of the Oyster 
introduction and it was decided that the most appropriate zone for it to 
be placed within was Zone 8. 

4.4 The authority to re - zone Stations is in fact held by Government, as the 
anytime fares used by Oyster card holders from Dartford actually sit 
within a category known as ‘regulated fares’( which make up just under 
half of all rail fares on the rail network) and these are regulated by 
Government

4.5 To enact a re-zoning, it would be necessary to request this through the 
Department for Transport, who oversee this regulation. 

4.6 Enquiries with the Department of Transport have elicited a mixed 
response in that while they acknowledge that the Secretary of State does 
have the authority to re - zone stations, any such action must be 
proposed by the operators.  A copy of their response is attached at 
Appendix A to this report.

5. Recommendation 

Members’ Instructions are requested.

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and 
risk assessments

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

8. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable.

9. Appendices
Appendix A.
Response from the Department of Transport  dated 23 October 2018.



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
4 December 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

None N/A





 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Dear Mr Murphy 
 
Thank you for your email of 19 October 2018, about the re zoning of Dartford 
Rail Station. This has been forwarded on to the Passenger Services team for 
reply.  
 
It may be helpful to explain that the Travelcard map, showing the zone in 
which each stations falls, is set out as part of the Travelcard Agreement. This 
agreement is made between the Train Operating Companies and TfL; the 
Government is not a signatory of the Agreement. 
 
Any changes to Dartford Rail station must be proposed by a signatory of the 
Agreement and then agreed by the remaining signatories. Once agreed by 
the signatories, the Department can approve or reject the change proposals. 
This decision, made by the Secretary of State, is on the basis of a business 
case, other wider policy and any initiatives that may be considered at the 
time.  
 
We appreciate your frustration, however, the Government cannot promote or 
back any proposals outside this established process.  
 
Thank you again for your email and for raising your concerns with us. We 
hope this reply is helpful. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Correspondence Team, Passenger Services, Rail Group 
 

Neil Murphy 
Dartford Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford, Kent 
DA1 1DR  
neil.murphy@Dartford.gov.uk 

Department for Transport 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London 
SW1P 4DR 
Tel: 0300 330 3000 
 
Web Site: www.gov.uk/dft 
 
Our Ref: 240758 
Your Ref:  
 
23 October 2018 
 



 



To:  Joint Transportation Board 

By: Andrew Loosemore – Head of Highway Asset 
Management

Date: 4th December 2018

Subject: Local Winter Service Plan

Classification: Information only

Summary:  This report outlines the arrangements that have been made 
between Kent County Council and Dartford Borough Council to provide 
a local winter service in the event of an operational snow alert in the 
borough/district

Introduction

1. Kent County Council Highways, Transportation & Waste (KCC HT&W) 
takes its winter service responsibilities very seriously and is proactive as well 
as reactive to winter weather conditions.  Winter service costs KCC in the 
region of £3.2m every winter and needs careful management to achieve 
safety for the travelling public and to be efficient. The Highways Operations 
teams in HT&W work to ensure that the winter service standards and 
decisions made are consistent across the whole county.  

HT&W prepares an annual Winter Service policy and plan which are used to 
determine actions that will be taken to manage its winter service operations. 
The policy was approved at the KCC Environment, Planning and Transport 
Cabinet Committee on 20th September 2018 and subsequently signed off by 
the Cabinet Member.

District based winter service plans

2. The Local Winter Service Plan for the Dartford Borough is a working 
document.  It will evolve and be revised as necessary throughout the year.  
The document will be available on the KCC website.  This document 
complements the KCC Winter Service Policy and Plan 2018/19. Following 
successful work in previous years with district councils, arrangements have 
again been put in place this year whereby labour from district councils can be 
used during snow days. Additionally, HT&W will supply a quantity of a 
salt/sand mixture to district councils to use on the highway network. The 
details are contained in the local district winter plan which enhances the work 
that HT&W will continue to do in providing a countywide winter service. The 



local plan comes into effect when a snow operational alert is declared that 
affects the district of Dartford.
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport/highway_maintenance/winter_m
aintenance_and_repairs/dartford_winter_s.aspx 

Pavement clearance

3. Areas for clearing pavements have been identified in the local plan. These 
are the areas where local knowledge has indicated that people are concerned 
and would most like to be kept clear when there is snow and ice. 

Farmers 

4. The work that our contracted farmers have done in recent years is greatly 
appreciated and has made a big difference in keeping rural areas clear on 
snow days. Again this year farmers will have predetermined local routes and 
will use their own tractor and KCC ploughs for clearing snow. The ploughs 
supplied are serviced by KCC each year. Each farmer will have plans detailing 
the roads that that they are responsible for ploughing.   When snow reaches a 
depth of 50mm on roads in their areas the farmers will commence ploughing 
notifying KCC as agreed in their contract. A list of farmers and their contact 
details can be found in the local plan, (although some personal information will 
not be available via this report or the website due to General Data Protection 
Regulations).  

Conclusion

5. The arrangements for working in partnership with the district councils in 
recent years has proved to be very successful and the continuing 
arrangement will enable HT&W to provide an effective winter service across 
the county. 

 Recommendations

6. Members of the Board are asked to note this report.
______________________________________________________________

Background documents: 
Kent County Council Winter Service Policy and Plan 2018/19

Contact officer: 
Denise Sutton -Tel: 03000 414141

http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport/highway_maintenance/winter_maintenance_and_repairs/dartford_winter_s.aspx
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport/highway_maintenance/winter_maintenance_and_repairs/dartford_winter_s.aspx


From: David Latham - Highway Policy and Inspections Manager

To: Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Date: 16th January 2019

Subject: Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice

Classification: For Information

Summary: This paper outlines the County Council’s strategy for implementing the new Code of Practice for 
highway maintenance management which becomes fully effective in October 2018. 

It is highly unlikely that there will be any material impacts on the volume or cost of highway maintenance 
works but there will be a greater emphasis on the assessment of risk. Currently, no changes to service 
standards are proposed however, prior to any changes being made a full evaluation of options would be 
required followed by approval in accordance with the County Council Constitution. 

1. Introduction

A. Well-maintained Highways, the code of practice for highway maintenance management was 
published in July 2005. It provided local authorities with guidance on highways management and 
proposed some prescribed investigation levels for highway defects e.g. 50mm depth for 
carriageway potholes. The Code of Practice formed the basis for the County Council’s Highway 
Safety Inspection Regime and our approach to highway maintenance. Well-maintained Highways 
was repeatedly deemed to be best practice by the Courts and by adopting the principles of The 
Code of Practice we have been able to defend claims against the County Council by 
demonstrating our defence (under Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980) of implementing all 
reasonable measures and demonstrating we are not a negligent highway authority.

B. Well-managed Highway Infrastructure was published in October 2016 and replaces Well-
maintained Highways, Well-lit Highways, and Management of Highway Structures in October 
2018. Like its predecessors, Well-managed Highway Infrastructure is a national, non-statutory 
code of practice which sets out a series of general principles for highway maintenance. It is 
endorsed and recommended by the Department for Transport and its production has been 
overseen by the UK Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG) and its Roads, Bridges and Lighting Boards. 
However, the new Code of Practice is less prescriptive and instead promotes the establishment 
of local levels of service through risk-based assessment. 

C. On the 13th July 2018, the County Council’s Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee 
endorsed the adoption and phased implementation of the fundamental principles of the Code of 
Practice. This decision was subsequently agreed by the Cabinet Member. 

D. Well-managed Highway Infrastructure - Implementing the Code of Practice is published on the 
County Council’s website. It outlines how we will go about applying the principles in the Code of 
Practice to the way we work and measure our success to ensure continuous improvement and a 
focus on the County Council’s Strategic Outcomes.

Link to Well-managed Highway Infrastructure 
http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/codes/index.cfm

http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/codes/index.cfm


2. Discussion

The Highway Network 

A. Well-managed Highway Infrastructure recommends that the highway network should be 
considered as an integrated set of assets when developing infrastructure maintenance policies. 

B. There are several classifications and hierarchies used for the planning and prioritisation of 
highway inspections, maintenance, renewals, improvements and new installations in Kent. 
However, residents, communities and businesses do not distinguish between the different 
categories of road, range of assets or types of work undertaken. They expect the network to be 
managed and maintained holistically to provide consistent and appropriate levels of service in the 
context of the County Council’s strategic outcomes. 

C. An integrated network hierarchy is the foundation of a risk-based maintenance strategy and will 
inform intervention levels, inspection frequencies and response times. It is important that it 
reflects the actual use of each infrastructure asset and needs to be sufficiently dynamic to 
respond to the changing nature of the network – the classification of an asset may alter because 
of short term influences such as seasonal fluctuations or due to longer-term factors such as 
climate change and development.

D. Much of our network hierarchy information is already published including our Resilient Highway 
Network and Winter Salting Routes. From April 2019, the County Council will publish a series of 
related hierarchies which include all elements of the highway network. These hierarchies will 
consider current and expected use, resilience, and local economic and social factors as well as 
the desirability for continuity of service across administrative boundaries and a consistent 
approach for walking and cycling.  

Risk Based Approach

E. Well-managed Highway Infrastructure is underpinned by the fundamental principle that highway 
authorities should adopt a risk-based approach in accordance with local needs (including safety), 
priorities and affordability.

F. Meaningful risk management is an intrinsic part of the management of our highway infrastructure.  
Inspections, maintenance, renewals and improvements present extensive choices and therefore 
it is vital that the impact of implementation and the consequences of failure are fully understood. 
In addition, there are a variety of external influences which impact on the performance of the 
highway network. Weather, budget, political direction and demand from other service areas also 
need to be considered when determining the approach to maintenance and investment.

G. Many of our existing inspection regimes and methodologies for prioritising work on the highway 
already include a consideration of risk. Furthermore, the County Council has already a risk 
management approach, detailed in the Risk Management Policy & Strategy 2018-21. This 
approach will now be applied to all aspects for highway infrastructure maintenance. At a strategic 
level, the management of current and future risks will be embedded within our approach to asset 
management. At an operational level, a risk-based approach will be used to determine 
intervention levels, inspection frequencies, response times and investment priorities across all 
highway assets.

H. A case study outlining the practical application of a risk-based approach can be found at 
Appendix A. 



Resilience and Sustainability

I. Kent provides key transport links between London and the continent and has some of the most 
intensively used roads in the country. Any disruption to the network has an immediate impact on 
road users, the economy and services. Ensuring these roads are as resilient and sustainable as 
is practicable must be a priority.

J. The County Council has long had robust systems in place to respond effectively to severe 
weather emergencies, unforeseen events and civil emergencies and we already take a 
hierarchical approach to the management of our 8,700 km highway network. In September 2017, 
this approach was enhanced further when The Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee 
endorsed The Definition for Kent’s Resilient Highway Network.

K. It is important that the highway network is maintained for future generations. In addition to 
responding effectively to emergencies and high impact events, it is important that due 
consideration is given to the impacts of climate change. Furthermore, a balance needs to be 
sought between providing sustainable growth and a competitive, innovative and resilient 
economy and protecting and improving our natural and historic assets. 

Financial Management, Priorities and Planning 

L. The way in which investment is prioritised needs to provide sufficient flexibility to deliver value for 
money. In addition to ensuring effective coordination, an asset management-based approach to 
managing highway infrastructure requires due consideration of different options and factors that 
influence their success: 

 The differing life expectancies of various treatments and the future implications of these 
for the balance of capital and revenue funding; for example, renewing a bridge parapet 
might be more expensive than simply repointing the aging brickwork but doing so could 
generate a saving with respect to the long-term maintenance.

 The seasonal and weather sensitive nature of many treatments and the service as a 
whole; for example, renewing a road surface is best done during dry, mild weather as very 
cold or wet weather can cause the surface to rapidly fail. 

 The uncertainties in prediction of out-turn costs for Winter Service, Severe Weather 
Events and emergencies and the need for financial year-end flexibility

M. The County Council has endorsed an asset management based approach to the maintenance 
and management of highway assets. Part of this approach involves viewing the highway network 
as a whole rather than as discrete asset groups such as carriageways, drainage, lighting and 
structures. A cross asset approach will now be taken when developing priorities and programmes 
and produce a rolling forward works programme that is updated regularly. 

Performance Management

N. Effective performance monitoring will support the County Council in reviewing progress, 
performance requirements and works programmes. Our Highway Asset Management Framework 
establishes mechanisms for performance management, including performance measures and 
targets, which facilitate the monitoring of delivery with respect to the short, medium and long term 
strategic direction of the service.



3. Conclusion

A. The Code of Practice presents an opportunity for County Councils’ to shape the services they 
provide based on local needs and priorities and does not need to represent a radical change 
from a customer perspective, particularly in the short term. 

B. A programme is in place to ensure the timely and effective implementation of the Code of 
Practice, with a view to having the recommendations largely implemented from April 2019. 
Information sharing with local representatives and communities form a key part of this 
programme including planned engagement with Parish Councils via the annual Parish Seminars, 
“for information” updates to Joint Transportation Boards and enhanced information on the County 
Council’s website. 

4. Appendices

A. Well-managed Highway Infrastructure - Applying the Code of Practice in Kent

B. Well-managed Highway Infrastructure - Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent 2018 – 2020

C. Case Study: Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – A practical application

5. Contact Details 

David Latham - Highway Policy and Inspections Manager 
T: 03000 41 81 81
E: WMHCoP@kent.gov.uk

mailto:WMHCoP@kent.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

Highways Asset Management  

Applying the Well-managed Highway 

Infrastructure in Kent 

Introduction 

Kent County Council (KCC) maintains 8,700km (5,400 miles) of highway network and associated “assets”.  

 

Our roads, footways, street lights, street furniture, traffic signals, gullies and drains, trees, grass verges, 

signs, road markings, bridges and other structures are all different types of highway asset. These assets 

help to ensure that journeys around and through the County are safe and reliable.  

 

The County Council has statutory obligations under the Highways Act 1980 to maintain the highway in a 

safe condition and appropriately safe and functioning state.  In addition, the Traffic Management Act 2004 

requires us to facilitate and secure the efficient movement of traffic on our highway network. Furthermore, 

the Climate Change Act 2008 obliges us reduce greenhouse gas emissions and prepare to adapt to longer 

term climate change. Finally, in 2011 the public sector equality duty (the equality duty) came into force. The 

equality duty was created under the Equality Act 2010 which explains that having due regard for advancing 

equality involves removing or minimising disadvantage, encouraging participation and taking steps to meet 

the needs of all people from protected groups where these are different from the needs of other people. 

 

In October 2016 the UK Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG) published Well Managed Highway Infrastructure. 

The Code of Practice, which is due for implementation by October 2018, is designed to promote the 

adoption of an integrated asset management approach to highway infrastructure based on the 

establishment of local levels of service through risk-based assessment. In the interest of route consistency 

for highway users, all authorities are encouraged to collaborate in determining levels of service, especially 

across boundaries with neighbours responsible for strategic and local highway networks 

  

KCC has adopted the principles set out in the Code of Practice and this document outlines how these 

principles are shaping the services we deliver in a way that supports and achieves the County Council’s 

priorities. 

Our Vision 

The County Council has a five year strategic statement called “Increasing Opportunities, Improving 

Outcomes” and this sets out the following vision:  

Our focus is on improving lives by ensuring every pound spent in Kent is delivering better 

outcomes for Kent’s residents, communities and businesses 

Funding to maintain the highway network is finite and investment decisions need to balance the competing 

needs and interdependencies of highway users, local communities, businesses and our highway assets 

themselves. Adopting an informed and holistic risk based approach enables integrated asset management 

and supports a principle of spending the right amount of money at the right time to keep our highway 

network safe and our assets working properly to meet the needs of Kent’s people, businesses and visitors 

now and in the future.  

  



 
 

 
 

Highways Asset Management  

Applying the Well-managed Highway 

Infrastructure in Kent 

Our Strategic Outcomes  

The County Council is committed to achieving its vision through three strategic outcomes which provide a 

simple and effective focus for everything we do.  

Effective risk management and integrated highway asset management is vital in supporting the delivery of 

the County Council’s three strategic outcomes: 

Children and young people in Kent get the best start in life 

Managing risk and applying asset management principles to create a safe and resilient highway network 

enables reliable journeys. These journeys enable Kent’s young people to access work, education and 

training opportunities, supporting them to achieve their potential through academic and vocational 

education.  

Kent communities feel the benefits of economic growth by being in work, healthy and enjoying a 

good quality life 

Creating a highway network that is resilient is key to economic prosperity. As well as connecting the 

County’s towns and villages, Kent highways also provide a key strategic link between the Capital and ferry, 

air and rail services to mainland Europe.  

Older and vulnerable residents are safe and supported with choices to live independently. 

Safe and reliable highways provide valuable access to services, amenities and social activities for older 

and vulnerable people supporting them to live with greater independence.   

The demands of an aging population and the potential barriers to independent living need to be recognised 

and inform decisions we make about levels of service and maintenance priorities. 

Our Approach to Asset Management in Highways 

KCC has adopted an approach to highway service delivery which is underpinned by asset management 

principles.  Our Approach to Asset Management in Highways was approved by the Environment and 

Transport Cabinet Committee in January 2017.  

Implementing Our Approach to Asset Management in Highways is our strategy document which outlines 

how we are embedding asset management principles, including effective risk management, in the way that 

we deliver highway services. 

Understanding the Assets We Manage 

The highway network is made up of a diverse range of assets with an estimated value in excess of £25bn. 

Understanding our highway assets is intrinsic to effective risk management, integrated asset management 

and informed decision making.  



 
 

 
 

Highways Asset Management  

Applying the Well-managed Highway 

Infrastructure in Kent 

Boundaries and changes in road hierarchy are not usually apparent to highway users and significant 

differences in maintenance standards are unlikely to be desirable. Whilst a main road will inevitably present 

a different risk profile to a minor road and different authorities will generate different outcomes, 

understanding these variances and being able to justify corresponding levels of service will be key.  

Developing Maintenance Plans and Forward Works Programmes 

Understanding the lifecycle of each asset group, the impact of current service levels, our statutory 

obligations, strategic objectives and public expectations all contribute to a meaningful assessment of risk 

and consequence.  

Our first priority is always to maintain highway safety but there are a range of ways we can do this. There 

are often several ways we can respond to a highway defect and each of these comes with a cost, an 

implication for other asset groups and consequence for local communities. Local knowledge, historic 

evidence and engineering judgement can enable these consequences to be understood and taken account 

of. With limited resources at our disposal it is also paramount that the action taken is proportionate to the 

risk.     

Measuring Success 

It is important that we record and demonstrate the outcomes of our maintenance strategies and investment 

decisions. Clear performance measures and targets ensure that we are continuously improving the way we 

work and provide an opportunity to identify areas for further development. By empowering staff to analyse 

and understand the outcomes of different actions, informed and balanced asset management based 

decisions about future maintenance, repairs and improvements can be made.  

Through bench marking, collaboration and engagement with National Forums, best practice can be shared 

and captured, service standards can be aligned and we can ensure that we remain focused on the needs of 

Kent’s residents, businesses, visitors and communities.  

Preparing For the Future 

Critical Infrastructure refers to routes and assets where failure would result in a significant impact to the 

local, and potentially the national, economy. There are many potential risks and threats to the function of 

critical infrastructure and we need to ensure that they are managed effectively to maximise resilience now 

and in the future.  

In an industry that is constantly changing and developing, the adoption of new ideas, methods of working 

and innovation can driver greater efficiency. Through effective working with our delivery partners, industry 

working groups and other authority’s opportunities for improvement can be identified and maximised for the 

future benefit of the County.  

Developing Our Approach to Asset Management in Highways 2018/19 – 2020/21, describes the current 

condition of asset groups and condition/outcome trends going forward based on current resource levels. It 

includes areas that we want to develop in future as we implement the Code of Practice, strive to further 

enhance service delivery and ensure continuous improvement.  



 
 

 
 

Highways Asset Management  

Applying the Well-managed Highway 

Infrastructure in Kent 

Implementing Well-managed Highway Infrastructure 

Details of how the County Council intends to implement the Code of Practice in their delivery of highway 

maintenance will be outlined in “Implementing Well-managed Highway Infrastructure”.  

 



 

 

 

 

      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Well-managed Highway 

Infrastructure 
 

Implementing the Code of Practice in 
Kent 

2018 - 2020 
  

Highways Asset Management 



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

1 

Contents 
Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................3 

The Highway Network ...............................................................................................................................................5 

Network Inventory ..................................................................................................................................................5 

Integrated Network Management ..........................................................................................................................5 

The whole highway.............................................................................................................................................6 

Future Maintenance ...........................................................................................................................................6 

Highway users ....................................................................................................................................................6 

Risk Base Approach ..................................................................................................................................................8 

Context ...................................................................................................................................................................8 

Risk Management in Highways .............................................................................................................................8 

Risk Management ..................................................................................................................................................8 

Identify Risks ......................................................................................................................................................9 

Assess Risks ......................................................................................................................................................9 

Evaluate Risks ..................................................................................................................................................10 

Allocate Risk .....................................................................................................................................................10 

Determine Actions ............................................................................................................................................10 

Apply Actions ....................................................................................................................................................11 

Monitor & Control .............................................................................................................................................11 

Inspections and Surveys ......................................................................................................................................11 

Safety Inspections ............................................................................................................................................11 

Service Inspections ..........................................................................................................................................12 

Condition Surveys ............................................................................................................................................12 

Structural Assessments ...................................................................................................................................12 

Reactive Inspections ........................................................................................................................................12 

Defect Recording and Repair ..............................................................................................................................12 

Competence and Training ...................................................................................................................................13 

Resilience and Sustainability ...................................................................................................................................14 

Managing Highways for Resilience .....................................................................................................................14 

Climate Change and Adaptation ..........................................................................................................................15 

Financial Management, Priorities and Programming ..............................................................................................16 

Financial Planning and Budgeting Principles ......................................................................................................16 

Priorities and Programming .................................................................................................................................16 

Performance Management ......................................................................................................................................17 

Performance Measures and Targets ...................................................................................................................17 

Performance Reviews ..........................................................................................................................................17 

Benchmarking ......................................................................................................................................................17 

 



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

2 

  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

3 

Introduction 

Our highway network is the most valuable asset we own. It enables safe and reliable journeys and in doing so 

supports social and economic prosperity. We are committed to good management of our highway network not 

only now but also, for future generations. 

As the Highway Authority, the County Council has legal obligations to keep adopted highway routes available 

and safe for the passage of the travelling public. Our statutory duties are outlined in a number of pieces of 

legislation including the following:  

▪ The Highways Act 1980 outlines our duty of care to maintain the highway in a safe condition and 

protect the rights of the travelling public to use the highway. 

▪ The Traffic Management Act 2004 conveys a network management duty whereby we are required to 

facilitate and secure the efficient movement of traffic on the highway network.   

▪ The New Roads & Street Works Act 1991 requires us co-ordinate road works and to make best use of 

the existing network. 

▪ The Road Traffic Act 1991 describes our statutory responsibility to promote road safety and take 

measures to prevent collisions. 

▪ The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 details our duties to ensure that the 

work we do is designed and built competently and that risks to the work force and road users are 

properly considered and effectively managed. This places particular controls on how and when works 

are carried out.  

▪ The Equalities Act 2010 created the public equality duty which requires us to have due regard for 

advancing equality by removing or minimising disadvantage, encouraging participation and taking steps 

to meet the needs of all people from protected groups where these are different from the needs of other 

people. 

▪ The Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 details the environmental legislation that we need to follow to 

ensure that we minimise our impact on local biodiversity whilst carrying out highway asset maintenance. 

In October 2016 the UK Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG) published Well-managed Highway Infrastructure. The 

Code of Practice is non-statutory however it will be deemed to be guidance of best practice by the courts. The 

County Council will be required to demonstrate a robust decision-making process, an understanding of the 

consequences of those decisions, and how the associated risks are managed to ensure highway safety. 

The Code of Practice, which is due for implementation by October 2018, is designed to promote the adoption of 

an integrated asset management approach to highway infrastructure based on the establishment of local levels 

of service through risk-based assessment. The County’s Highway Asset Management Framework develops this 

approach in three documents: a policy [Our Approach to Asset Management in Highways], and two strategy 

documents [Implementing Our Approach to Asset Management in Highways and Developing Our Approach to 

Asset Management in Highways]. These documents demonstrate our commitment to an Asset Management 

approach and clearly outline the funding required and the wider benefits to be achieved. The Environment and 

Transport Cabinet Committee have endorsed all three documents, which are published on the County Council’s 

website.  

The Code of Practice recognises that the delivery of a safe and well-maintained highway network relies on good 

evidence and sound engineering judgement. A risk-based approach to highway maintenance needs to be 

founded on information that is sufficiently robust to enable decisions on levels of service, delivery methods and 

priorities for improvements can be taken and reviewed over time. Our Asset Information Strategy will detail how 

information to support a risk-based approach to highway maintenance will be collected, managed and made 

available in ways that are sustainable, secure, meet statutory obligations and facilitate transparency for network 

users. 



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

4 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure provides guidance to support the development of approaches to highway 

maintenance that are in accordance with local needs, priorities and affordability. In the interest of route 

consistency for highway users, all authorities, are encouraged to collaborate in determining levels of service, 

especially across boundaries with neighbours responsible for strategic and local highway networks. Moreover 

the principles set out in the Well-managed Highway Infrastructure are intended to influence the ongoing 

development and evolution of the approach taken to asset management in highways. In accordance with asset 

management principles, the highway network should be considered as an integrated set of assets with due 

consideration given to the need to balancing the needs and inter dependencies of different asset groups.  

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure states that “Where authorities elect in the light of local circumstances to 

adopt policies or approaches different from those suggested by the Code, it is essential that they are identified, 

together with the reasoning for such differences, be approved by the authority’s Executive and published.” 

However, the County Council’s Constitution states that “The Leader and Cabinet Members should…(d) 

participate in the approval by the full Council of Kent-wide policies and budgets; (e) lead the development of 

policies for the delivery of services to the whole community of Kent” [Article 2(2)]. Therefore, in addition to 

approving any deviations from the Code of Practice, the adoption of the principles of the Code of Practice and 

any fundamental changes to existing policies or service standards will be subject to Executive approval and 

publication. 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure - Implementing the Code of Practice outlines how we will go about 

applying the principles in the Code of Practice to the way we work and measure our success to ensure 

continuous improvement and a focus on the County Council’s Strategic Outcomes. Details of our approach will 

be actively communicated through engagement with stakeholders in setting requirements, making decisions and 

reporting performance. 

  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

5 

The Highway Network  

Network Hierarchies 

There are several classifications and hierarchies used for the planning and prioritisation of highway inspections, 

maintenance, renewals, improvements and new installations in Kent: 

▪ Road Classifications are administered by the Department for Transport and provide a system to direct 

motorists towards the most suitable routes for reaching their destination. 

▪ The Resilient Highway Network is defined by the County Council as “the portion of our highway 

network that is vital to maintaining economic activity and access to key services during extreme weather 

emergencies and other major incidents”. The purpose of defining this network is to identify the most 

critical routes and associated highway assets, such as bridges, so that planned whole asset 

maintenance on that part of the network may be prioritised. Details of Kent’s Resilient Highway Network 

are published on the County Council’s website [http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-

policies/transport-and-highways-policies/highways-asset-management] 

▪ The Winter Network is divided into primary and secondary routes and provides a minimum essential 

service to the public which includes links to the strategic network, access to key facilities and local 

communities. Precautionary salting of these routes is undertaken in accordance with the Winter Service 

Policy which is published on the County Council’s website [http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-

council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/winter-service-policy] and reviewed 

annually.  

▪ Flooding Hotspots are defined as “flood prone sections of the highway network” and are identified 

using drainage and flooding enquiry data. They are used to prioritise drainage maintenance, renewals 

and improvement works.  

▪ The Street Lighting Maintenance Hierarchy is defined by the County Council and used to prioritise 

routine maintenance such as night scouting and bollard cleaning. 

▪ The Maintenance Hierarchy is defined by the County Council and used to prioritise safety inspections 

and routine maintenance such as gully cleansing.  

▪ Critical Highway Infrastructure is considered to be those assets where failure would result in 

significant impact to the local, and potentially the national, economy. Critical infrastructure assets form a 

crucial part of the highway network.  

Whilst it is inevitable that different asset types might have their owner hierarchies, all should be related such that 

each asset type can be considered in relation to others and to the whole highway network.  

Network Inventory 

Inventory information or “asset registers” are held for most of our major asset groups however the extent of the 

information varies greatly due to differing business needs. For example, an extensive inventory is needed for 

street lighting as it is not only used to inform maintenance activities but also the energy bills that run to several 

millions of pounds. Conversely, the inventory for the highway drainage network is less comprehensive because, 

whilst it would be nice to know construction information for each of our drainage pipes, the nature of the work we 

do and the processes that have been implemented do not require this level of detail.  

The quality, appropriateness and completeness of asset data is reviewed regularly to ensure that the nature and 

extent of the network inventory collected is fit for purpose and meets business needs. The sensitivity of 

information is very limited but where sensitive information is held, it is managed in a security minded way.  

Integrated Network Management  

Kent’s residents, communities and businesses do not distinguish between the different categories of road, range 

of assets or types of work undertaken on the highway. They expect the network to be managed and maintained 

holistically to provide consistent and appropriate levels of service. To achieve this, it is vital that the whole 

highway network is considered and in the context of the County Councils strategic outcomes.  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

6 

An integrated network hierarchy based on asset function is the foundation of a risk-based maintenance strategy. 

It is important that it reflects the whole highway network and the needs, priorities and actual use of each 

infrastructure asset. It therefore also needs to be dynamic and regularly reviewed to reflect the changing nature 

of the network as a consequence of short term influences such as seasonal fluctuations or longer-term factors 

such as climate change and development. 

The whole highway  

It is imperative that all highway assets are considered including traffic management and parking provisions. 

Moreover, it is important to consider the implications of a maintenance regime or scheme not only now but in the 

longer term. For example, if a road with defective drainage is resurfaced without also repairing the drainage it 

will remain in a good condition for a much shorter length of time. Over time standing water will cause the surface 

to deteriorate, increasing numbers of potholes will form and the overall lifespan of the road will be reduced. 

Prevention is generally more cost effective than cure and if, for example, the drainage is repaired before the 

road is resurfaced, efficiencies can be made on the remedial works and further savings achieved as responding 

to the consequences of flooding is not required.  

Future Maintenance 

The highway network increases in size year on year and as do the number of assets we maintain. The impact on 

future maintenance can vary dramatically depending on the approach taken. As local government finances 

become increasingly squeezed it is important that the selection and suitability of assets and their component 

parts and materials, doesn’t place an unnecessary future burden on the Authority. For example, instead of laying 

a coloured road surface which is costly to maintain, white lining may demark a cycle route just as effectively.  

Highway users 

Highway maintenance regimes and improvements should consider the needs of all highway users, particularly 

vulnerable users. There may be opportunities while we carry out maintenance and improvements to minimise 

disadvantage, encourage participation and incorporate the needs of people from protected groups in accordance 

with the Public Equality Duty. Depending on the nature of the works, it may be possible to enhance safety, 

priority, integrity or quality of routes, crossing points, public transport facilities or freight movements and these 

opportunities should be given due consideration. Furthermore, the expectation of consistency means that 

consideration needs to be given to the hierarchy of neighbouring authorities for both the local and nationally 

maintained networks. 

Kent County Council will apply these principles and consider the highway network as an integrated set 

of assets when developing our approach to inspections, maintenance, renewals, improvements and new 

installations.  

Defining our Integrated Highway Network  

The system of road classification used by Central Government does not necessarily reflect local needs or actual 

use now and in the future.  

From April 2019, hierarchies will be defined and published for all elements of the local highway network. The 

inherent links between some asset groups such as signs, lines and the carriageway may mean that these 

network groupings are subsumed into a single hierarchy. Where asset hierarchies differ, they will all be founded 

on the principle of highway functionality and the desirability for a consistent approach with a view to achieving a 

high degree of compatibility.  

Specific considerations will be dependent on the nature of the asset type however there will be consistent 

themes that underpin the hierarchy definition:  

▪ Importance – this may include key routes between towns, connecting the strategic road network and 

main routes to critical infrastructure such as hospitals, schools and power stations  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

7 

▪ Environment - rural, urban, busy shopping streets, residential streets, country lanes etc.  

▪ Usage – this may include factors such as the volume and type of users, designations as traffic sensitive, 

diversion or ceremonial routes and the character and volume of traffic on the adjoining carriageway 

▪ Site history - this may include factors such as historic casualty data, historic flooding data and crime 

statistics   

▪ Asset specific considerations – this may include factors such as height or weight restrictions, historic 

structures, construction materials or the position with respect to the carriageway, footway or cycleway.  

Kent County Council will publish a series of related hierarchies which include all elements of the 

highway network. They will consider current and expected use, resilience, and local economic and 

social factors as well as the desirability of continuity and of a consistent approach for walking and 

cycling.   

 

  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

8 

Risk Based Approach  

Context 

As an organisation concerned with service provision and the social and economic development of the county, 

efficient and effective risk management is essential. By implementing sound management of our risks and the 

consequential threats and opportunities, we will be in a stronger position to deliver our business objectives, 

services that reflect local needs and achieve better value for money. Risk management is therefore at the heart 

of good management practice and the County Council’s corporate governance arrangements. Our approach to 

risk management is proactive and enables decisions to be based on properly assessed actions and events that 

balance risk and reward with a view to ensuring that the right actions are taken at the right time.  

It is not possible to eliminate all risk. Whilst some mitigation is often possible, it is important to understand the 

degree of risk and the potential consequences. These can then be balanced against the cost of reducing or 

eliminating the risk and the benefits of accommodating the risk.  

The County Council has a mandatory approach to risk management called the Risk Management Policy & 

Strategy 2018-21.  

Risk Management in Highways  

Meaningful risk management is an intrinsic part of the management of our highway infrastructure.  Inspections, 

maintenance, renewals and improvements present extensive choices and therefore it is vital that the impact of 

implementation and the consequences of failure are fully understood. In addition, there are a variety of external 

influences which impact on the performance of the highway network. Weather, budget, political direction and 

demand from other service areas also need to be considered when determining the approach to maintenance 

and investment.  

Adopting a risk-based approach will further facilitate the establishment and implementation of levels of asset 

condition and service standards that are appropriate to their circumstances.   

Kent County Council will adopt a risk-based approach for all aspects for highway infrastructure 

maintenance, including setting levels of service, inspections, response, resilience, priorities and 

programmes. The management of current and future risks will be embedded within the approach to 

asset management and service delivery Strategic, tactical and operational risks will be included as will 

appropriate mitigation measures. 

Risk Management  

The County Council has adopted a risk management approach which aligns with the Office of Government 

Commerce (OGC) recognised best practice guidance – Management of Risk: Guidance for Practitioners. The 

approach is an iterative process to enable continuous improvement and is summarised below: 

  

Identify 
Risks

Assess 
Risks

Evaluate 
Risks

Allocate 
Risks 

Determin
e Actions

Apply 
Actions

Monitor 
& Control 



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

9 

Identify Risks  

Identifying risks is a crucial opportunity to ensure that risks are visible throughout the organisation. At this point 

risks are considered in their unmitigated state to allow for later prioritisation. Issues to be considered as part of 

the risk identification process may include: 

▪ What are the risks to achieving the asset management strategy and levels of service?  

▪ What is the source of each risk?  

▪ What might happen?  

▪ What would the effect be?  

▪ When, where, why and how are these risks likely to occur?  

▪ Who might be involved or impacted?  

▪ What controls presently exist?  

▪ What could cause the control to not have the desired effect on the risk? 

A common approach is to commence the risk identification at a high level to obtain an assessment for the level 

of overall risk exposure. This may then be followed by a detailed assessment of more specific risks where critical 

assets, critical failure modes and high-risk areas can be defined and analysed in greater detail. 

Assess Risks  

Having identified the risks it is important to understand the potential consequences, positive or negative, and the 

likelihood of that impact being realised.  

Consequence is the outcome of an event, such as increased journey times, isolation of local communities or a 

drop in public perception of the service provided. It can have positive or negative effects and can be expressed 

qualitatively or quantitatively. The consequences associated with an event leading to failure or service reduction 

may include:  

▪ Safety – including fatalities and personal injuries;  

▪ Functionality – impact of a loss or reduction in service at route, asset or component level, such as 

weight restrictions on a bridge;  

▪ Cost – increased costs due to bringing forward or delaying work, repair costs, fines or litigation costs 

and loss of income or income potential;  

▪ Sustainability – any impact on future use of highway infrastructure assets.  

▪ Environment – environmental impacts, such as pollution caused through traffic delay or contamination 

from spillages, the sensitivity of the route/area, etc;  

▪ Reputation – public confidence in organisational integrity; and  

▪ Community costs – damage to property or other third-party losses, which may include business 

impacts, traffic delays, etc. 

Likelihood is the chance of an event such as an asset failure or a fatality on the highway happening. It can be 

measured objectively, subjectively, qualitatively or quantitatively depending on the level of information available. 

However, it is measured, there are several issues that need to be considered, including the following:   

▪ Changes in policy and funding; 

▪ Current and historic performance (severity and extent) of the asset;  

▪ Rate of deterioration and/or current age of the asset; 

▪ Asset type, material type, mode of failure, extent of failure, etc;  

▪ Exposure to incidents of all types;  

▪ Human behaviour and workmanship;  

▪ Vulnerability to climate change;  

▪ Quality of asset management approach and systems.  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

10 

The likelihood of physical failure of an asset is related to the current condition of the asset, hence the importance 

of accurate condition assessment. The likelihood of natural events is determined less easily but scientific studies 

are usually available. The likelihood of other events, such as poor work practices or planning issues can be 

difficult to ascertain. KCC have an established matrix-based approach for determining risk levels.  

KCC’s Standard for Determining Risk Levels 

Risk Rating Matrix 

Impact 

1 2 3 4 5 

Minor Moderate Significant Serious Major 

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

1 Very Unlikely 1 
Low 

2 
Low 

3 
Low 

4 
Low 

5 
Low 

2 Unlikely 2 
Low 

4 
Low 

6 
Low 

8 
Medium 

10 
Medium 

3 Possible 3 
Low 

6 
Low 

9 
Medium 

12  

Medium 
15 

Medium 

4 Likely 4 
Low 

8 
Medium 

12 
Medium 

16 
High 

20 
High 

5 Very Likely 
5 

Low 
10 

Medium 
15 

Medium 
20 

High 
25 

High 
 

The target residual rating for a risk is “medium” or lower; in the event that this is not practicable the risk will be 

escalated for review.   

Evaluate Risks 

All identified risks need to be evaluated against the risk appetite and risk tolerance provides an assurance of a 

consistent approach to the measurement of risk and appropriate management and escalation. The County 

Council recognises that risk is inherent in delivering and commissioning services, including highways services, 

and aims to have an open approach to risk, appropriately balancing risk against reward, with risks managed in a 

proportionate manner.  

With increasing spending demands and continued reductions in Government funding, there is a recognition that 

it is likely that a higher level of risk will need to be accepted in the future. This will require an approach that 

allows flexibility and support for well-informed and considered risk taking, promoting transparency and effective 

risk management, while maintaining accountability.  

Allocate Risk  

It is important that risks are suitably allocated to a stakeholder who is best placed to take ownership and manage 

them effectively. For example, the risk of a critical asset failure is best allocated to the asset manager who has 

the level of understanding to determine potential actions and the consequences of those actions, the authority to 

apply the selected action and the information and knowledge to monitor and control the risk in both the short and 

longer term.  

Determine Actions 

Mitigation options need be identified for all risks assessed to be unacceptable and there will often be many 

options to reduce the likelihood and/or consequence. It is therefore important that a logical approach to 

determining appropriate, proportionate and viable solutions to eliminate, reduce or control risk and enhance 

opportunities is established.  

Some risks can be addressed more easily and effectively than others and costs may range significantly. 

Therefore, analysis of the costs of risk reduction against different options will facilitate identification of the 

optimum solution. It should be noted that in addition to the financial implications, the potential actions need to be 

considered in the wider context of the County Council’s strategic objectives and legal obligations i.e. the most 



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

11 

cost-effective action is not appropriate if it contradicts our strategic objectives, breaches our legal obligations or 

could significantly damage the Authority’s reputation.  

Apply Actions   

Prior to applying actions, the assessment and evaluation stages need to be revisited to determine the residual 

risk and therefore the effect of the risk action. Having confirmed that this is satisfactory, the Action Owner is 

confirmed as are the appropriate reporting arrangements. For example, if the action involves significant service 

reductions, or significant changes in the way that services are delivered approval by the Cabinet Member; 

Cabinet or Leader of the County Council will be required. Moreover, if significant service changes are being 

made due to efficiency, economy or effectivity then formal consultation will be necessary.  

Monitor & Control  

Risks are not static and external and internal events can alter the likelihood and impact of risks. It is essential to 

continue reviewing risks and checking that actions to manage them are progressing to plan. All highway risks 

are routinely reviewed alongside other business management activities such as performance and financial 

reporting. Moreover, when emerging events or emergencies occur new and existing risks are assessed and 

responded to.  

Inspections and Surveys  

Authorities are not statutorily obliged to carry out inspections of all highway elements but are strongly advised to 

undertake safety inspections in accordance with the principles of Well-managed Highway Infrastructure. 

Inspection and survey regimes should be planned using a risk-based approach to provide increased levels of 

scrutiny to areas or assets deemed to be of higher risk. 

An effective regime of inspection, survey and recording is the most crucial component of highway infrastructure 

maintenance and intrinsic to the management of risk. It provides basic information for addressing the core 

objectives of highway maintenance namely:  

▪ network safety;  

▪ network serviceability;  

▪ network sustainability.  

The characteristics of the regime are defined following an assessment of the relative risks associated with 

potential circumstances of location, agreed level of service and condition. For example, an 80-year-old bridge 

carrying a main road over a live railway line has greater risks associated with it than a new footbridge over a 

ditch on a rural footpath. The former may require 2 yearly visual inspections and 6 yearly detailed inspections 

supported by detailed reporting to reflect the complex nature of the structure. For the latter, it may be sufficient to 

carry out 2 yearly visual inspections with a “check list” style report and no detailed inspections if the simplistic 

nature of the structure means that all components are easily accessed and visible. Regardless of the specifics of 

the regime, it is crucial that they are applied systematically and consistently. Moreover, it is important to 

recognise that all information recorded, even if not primarily intended for network safety purposes, may have 

implications for safety and may therefore be relevant to legal proceedings and may have to be made available 

for public inspection and reference. 

The County Council undertake a range of inspections and surveys with respect to the highway and its 

components:  

Safety Inspections  

The safety inspection regime forms a key aspect of an authority’s approach to managing liabilities and risks. A 

countywide team of inspectors are tasked with the identification of all defects likely to create danger or serious 

inconvenience to users of the network or the wider community. The risk of danger is assessed on site and the 

defect identified with an appropriate priority response. The regime has been developed using a risk-based 



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

12 

approach and provides a practical and reasonable approach to the risks and potential consequences identified. 

Moreover, it takes account of potential risks to all users, and in particular the most vulnerable. 

The processes and standards that underpin this regime are detailed in the Highway Inspectors Manual and are 

reviewed annually. 

Service Inspections  

The inspection requirements of different asset groups can vary significantly due to their composition and the way 

in which they function. Service inspections are tailored to the requirements of specific highway assets and 

elements to ensure that they meet requirements for serviceability. Examples of these type of inspections include 

electrical testing of lit signs and structural testing of street lighting columns. These inspections also include 

inspections for network integrity and for regulatory purposes, including NRSWA, intended to maintain network 

availability and reliability.  

Condition Surveys 

Condition surveys are primarily intended to identify defects which, if untreated, are likely to adversely affect long 

term performance, serviceability and safety. The data collected can be used to forecast life expectancy, to 

determine when intervention may be appropriate, to model the impact of different intervention strategies and to 

compare the likely costs. In addition, the information collected informs national government indicators and the 

annual valuation of the highway network.    

Kent County Council will continue to implement asset condition surveys based on asset management 

need and in accordance with our statutory reporting requirements.  

Structural Assessments 

Structural Assessments are carried out on a targeted basis to determine the capacity of a structure to carry the 

loads which are imposed upon it, and increases that may be reasonably expected in the foreseeable future. 

Reactive Inspections 

The County Council proactively encourages our customers to report highway defects via our Online Fault 

Reporting Tool and a dedicated highways line to our Contact Point.  

Reports from members of the public provide a further source of knowledge on the condition of the highway 

network. To maximise the value of this information, appropriate quality assurance measures are needed. As 

such, a regime of reactive inspections is in place to support the validation of reports, ensure duplicate reports 

are identified and combined, and to maintain auditability of information. It is not always necessary to inspect a 

defect to determine the required response but the decision to inspect or not, and the outcome of any inspection 

should be recorded systematically and consistently. 

Kent County Council will develop and implement a risk-based approach to inspections for all asset 

groups. 

Defect Recording and Repair  

All defects observed during service, safety, condition and reactive inspections, need to be recorded and the type 

and speed of response determined on the basis of a risk assessment.  

Defects that require urgent attention should be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if 

reasonably practicable. In this context, making an asset safe may constitute displaying warning notices, coning 

off or fencing off to protect the public from the defect. If it is not possible to correct or make safe the defect at the 

time of inspection, repairs of a permanent or temporary nature should be carried out as soon as possible. If 

temporary repairs have been used, permanent repair should be carried out within a reasonable period.  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

13 

Defects that do not represent an immediate or imminent hazard or risk of short term structural deterioration may 

have safety implications, although of far less significance than those which are considered to require urgent 

attention. They are more likely to have serviceability or sustainability implications. If repairs are to be undertaken 

these are likely to be within a planned programme of works with their priority determined by risk assessment. For 

example defects in highway trees may be identified during condition inspections and if the defect does not 

present an immediate safety threat, works will be ordered to reduce the risk of failure, eliminate the hazard or 

improve life expectancy of the tree. Access requirements, other works on the network, traffic levels, and the 

desirability of efficient traffic management, should also be considered as part of prioritising and scheduling the 

works.  

Kent County Council will develop and implement a risk-based defect repair regime for all highway 

assets.  

Managing the safety and wide range of other risks associated with the delivery of highway infrastructure 

maintenance requires effective and co-ordinated information systems to record inspections, defect reports, 

condition assessment and activity. The efficiency, accuracy and quality of information recorded is crucial both to 

the effective management of the service and to demonstrating that the County Council are a competent highway 

authority.  

All information obtained from inspections and surveys, together with the nature of response, including nil returns, 

should be recorded consistently. It is important that the data from inspections and surveys can be reviewed and 

analysed both independently and in conjunction with other information to enable a holistic understanding of the 

likely future maintenance need, asset condition and trends related to network characteristics and use. 

Kent County Council will develop and implement mechanisms for recording all inspections and 

subsequent activities to justify decisions made, inform future decision making and protect the authority 

from unjustified or fraudulent claims.  

Competence and Training   

To ensure that inspections, risk assessments and the analysis of the resulting information is meaningful and 

valid, appropriate competencies for all staff are required.   Continued professional development is key to this and 

should be embedded in the annual Learning and Development cycle.  

Kent County Council will ensure that the appropriate competency required for asset maintenance and 

management is identified and that training is provided where necessary.  

 

  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

14 

Resilience and Sustainability  

Kent, which provides key transport links between the capital and the continent, has some of the most intensively 

used roads in the country. Any disruption to the network has an immediate impact on road users, the economy 

and services. Ensuring these roads are as resilient and sustainable as is practicable must be a priority.  

Managing Highways for Resilience 

Resilience as defined by the Cabinet Office is the “ability of the community, services, are or infrastructure, to 

detect, prevent and if necessary to withstand, handle and recover from disruptive challenges”. Resilience in the 

context of highway infrastructure is the ability of a road network to withstand not only the impacts of extreme 

weather (snow, ice or flooding) but also industrial action, major incidents and other local risks. The level of 

resilience sought for any length of road needs to be commensurate with its intensity of use, economic or social 

importance and the availability of alternatives. The more intensively used and economically or socially important 

a route is, the shorter the disruption that is acceptable.  

Kent County Council has long had robust systems in place to respond effectively to severe weather emergencies 

and we already take a hierarchical approach to the management of our 8,700 km highway network. In 

September 2017, this approach was enhanced further when The Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee 

endorsed The Definition for Kent’s Resilient Highway Network.  

The overarching aims of Kent’s Resilient Highway Network are;  

▪ to protect economic activity in and through the county;  

▪ to protect access to key services; and  

▪ to protect access to key infrastructure.  

To achieve this, the following criteria have been used to identify and map a network of our most critical routes 

and highway assets;  

▪ roads connecting main towns in the County of Kent with a population of 20,000 and above,  

▪ roads connecting main towns with Highway England’s Strategic Road Network,  

▪ roads connecting main towns with main employment sites,  

▪ roads connecting with key operational services requiring emergency public access, such as hospitals 

with Accident and Emergency facilities,  

▪ roads connecting with key infrastructure, such as power stations and main transport facilities.  

The resulting network is used to inform intervention levels, prioritisation of maintenance and the case for 

investment in renewals and improvements to reduce the risk of asset failure.  

Our Resilient Highway Network is reviewed at least every two years and after any major event to ensure it 

remains relevant as lessons are learnt and services and businesses within the County change.  

In addition to the physical resilience of highway infrastructure, the management of disruption and speed of 

recovery are also key. There are several potential situations which could have a significant effect on the highway 

including inclement weather, subsidence, landslip or collapses, oil spills or local events such as Operation Stack.  

Kent County Council have operational plans and procedures are in place with respect to winter service, severe 

weather events, unforeseen events and civil emergencies. These plans have been developed in consultation 

with partner organisations and include roles, responsibilities and contingency plans and procedures to enable 

timely and effective response. Clear communication plans are also in place to ensure that weather and flood 

forecasts are received by operational teams and disseminated to staff, contractors and our customers.  

Responses to severe weather, emergency exercises and actual response are used to identify training 

opportunities and potential improvements to operational plans and procedures. Where appropriate, reviews are 



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

15 

carried out in consultation with multiple parts of the County Council and other responding organisations impacted 

by the event.  

Climate Change and Adaptation 

The Climate Change Act 2008 established a statutory framework for adaptation and set in place a five-year cycle 

for Government to report on the risk to the UK of climate change and to publish a programme setting out how 

these impacts will be addressed. The Government released the first National Adaptation Programme in 2013 

containing a series of objectives and associated actions. Most notably with regards to highway infrastructure, 

these actions included: 

▪ To ensure infrastructure is located, planned, designed and maintained to be resilient to climate change, 

including extreme weather events.  

▪ To better understand the vulnerabilities facing local infrastructure from extreme weather and long-term 

climate change to determine actions to address the risks.   

As such, it is important that due consideration is given to how the impacts of climate change, such as intense or 

prolonged rainfall, hotter temperatures and higher windspeed will impact on the types of highway assets that 

they manage. Some of the risks may have the potential to be reduced my mitigation action and options for 

mitigating the greatest risks should be explored with a view to prioritising those measures that will provide the 

greatest return on investment in terms of reduced risk.  

Kent County Council will assess the risk of extreme weather events on highway infrastructure and 

identify ways to mitigate the impacts.  

Sustainability  

The County Council has an important role in ensuring Kent’s residents and businesses benefit from sustainable 

growth and a competitive, innovative and resilient economy. This should be balanced with protecting and 

improving our natural and historic assets, for their unique value and positive impact on our society, economy, 

health and wellbeing. Materials and treatments used for highway maintenance can have a positive contribution 

to the public realm. There are a wide range of options, some of which are obligatory, but many of which provide 

for sympathetic application in particular circumstances. For example the selection of appropriate vegetation and 

trees during the planning stage of new schemes can bring environmental, drainage and social benefits. 

Kent County Council will endeavour to balance the character of the area as well as whole life cost, 

environmental impact and sustainability when determining materials, products and treatments. 

The management and maintenance of highway infrastructure have an inevitable impact on the environment and 

we therefore have a responsibility to make sure environmental risks and opportunities are managed positively 

and our use of natural resources is minimised for the benefit of future generations. The County Council’s 

Environmental Policy outlines the actions and objectives that underpin our approach. In accordance with this 

policy statement highway verges, trees and landscaped areas are managed with regards to their nature 

conservation value and biodiversity principles as well highway safety and serviceability.  

  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

16 

Financial Management, Priorities and Programming 

Financial Planning and Budgeting Principles 

It is essential that financial plans are linked to our Highway Asset Management Framework with respect to both 

short term activities such as routine maintenance, and for medium and long-term activities such as preventive 

maintenance and asset replacement. Our Highway Asset Management Framework describes how lifecycle 

planning principles are used to review funding levels, support investment decisions and substantiate the need for 

appropriate and sustainable long-term investment.  

The way in which investment is prioritised needs to provide sufficient flexibility to deliver value for money. In 

addition to ensuring effective coordination, an asset management-based approach to managing highway 

infrastructure requires due consideration of different options and factors that influence their success:  

▪ The differing life expectancies of various treatments and the future implications of these for the balance 

of capital and revenue funding; for example, renewing a bridge parapet might be more expensive than 

simply repointing the aging brickwork but doing so could generate a saving with respect to the long-term 

maintenance. 

▪ The seasonal and weather sensitive nature of many treatments and the service as a whole; for example, 

renewing a road surface is best done during dry, mild weather as very cold or wet weather can cause the 

surface to rapidly fail.  

▪ The uncertainties in prediction of out-turn costs for Winter Service, Severe Weather Events and 

emergencies and the need for financial year-end flexibility 

Priorities and Programming 

The County Council has endorsed an asset management based approach to the maintenance and management 

of highway assets. Part of this approach involves viewing the highway network as a whole rather than as 

discrete asset groups such as carriageways, drainage, lighting and structures. By sharing and coordinating both 

short and longer-term programmes of work efficiencies can be made, and the level of disruption caused can be 

reduced.  

Kent County Council will take a cross asset approach when developing priorities and programmes and 

produce a rolling forward works programme that is updated regularly.  

  

  



 

Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent (July 2018) 

 

17 

Performance Management 

Effective performance monitoring will support the County Council in reviewing progress, performance 

requirements and works programmes. Our Highway Asset Management Framework establishes mechanisms for 

performance management, including performance measures and targets, which facilitate the monitoring of 

delivery with respect to the short, medium and long term strategic direction of the service.  

Performance Measures and Targets 

Information and data arising from implementation and delivery of asset management are used to identify actions 

for continual improvement of the approach, including delivery of the overall service. This enables relevant 

processes and practices to be assessed and form the basis for continuous improvement. Moreover, it ensures 

that critical performance issues are identified and addressed in a timely manner. 

Performance Reviews 

Regular reviews complement performance monitoring and reporting to support continuous improvement and 

input into the identification of opportunities for improvement.  In more significant cases, these improvements 

should be formally documented with details of the expected outcomes, specific actions to be taken, the owner, 

the resources needed to deliver them and timescales. In doing so, focus is maintained, and benefit is 

maximised. 

Benchmarking 

Finally, benchmarking is a systematic process of collecting information and data to enable comparisons with the 

aim of improving performance, both absolutely and in relation to others. Through effective benchmarking and 

information sharing with neighbouring authorities and those authorities with a similar composition of highway 

network, the County Council can validate the approach taken and ensure that highway users’ reasonable 

expectation for consistency is considered when developing the approach to highway infrastructure maintenance.  

 

 

 



Case Study: Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – A practical 
application 

Routine Enquiries – A carriageway pothole  

The current approach 

The current Code of Practice, Well Maintained Highways, prescribes that we use locally set intervention levels 
with respect to carriageway and footway defects in Kent those intervention levels are 50mm depth for 
carriageway potholes and 20mm depth for footway potholes. 

For example, a highway steward identifies 8 potholes over a 20m stretch of a road.  

Assuming that the location is not a pedestrian crossing point, those potholes exceed 50mm deep, an emergency 
order will be raised regardless of the location or usage of that road. If the potholes are 40mm deep and likely to 
deteriorate then a 7 day or 28 day order will be raised for the repair. If the potholes are 20mm deep, they will 
either be assessed as “intervention level not met” and then no further action would be taken until the next 
highway inspection or repairs will be incorporated into a longer term scheme.  

The new approach 

The new Code of Practice, Well-managed Highway Infrastructure removes the prescriptive service standards. 
This does not mean the County Council cannot continue to use them as the basis for inspections and repairs, 
but it does give greater flexibility.  

Consider the previous example, a highway steward identifies 8 potholes over a 20m stretch of a road. The 
removal of prescriptive standards mean that the highway steward can now consider the context, the risk posed 
by the potholes and make an informed judgement about the timescale and nature of repairs.  

If the potholes are 35mm deep, in the wheel track and the road is a high trafficked, 50mph road, a 7 day repair 
could be deemed necessary on the basis that the volume and speed of traffic means that there is a greater risk 
to safety.  

Equally, if the potholes are 55mm deep but at the edge of a minor road used by farm 
traffic and a handful of vehicles, the risk is considerably lower and therefore temporary 
signs warning of the hazard and a 90 day repair could be deemed appropriate.  

In summary, there are no material impacts on the volume or cost of pothole 
repairs, just a greater emphasis on the assessment of risk.  

So, how and when would the Code of Practice have implications for 
service standards? 

The Code of Practice promotes an integrated, asset management based approach to highway maintenance i.e. 
we need to consider and balance the needs of all asset groups.  

In the context of the risk-based approach, this means that if we are not meeting with our statutory obligations or 
are at risk of failing to meet with our statutory obligations due to under investment, then we need to consider how 
this is overcome. There are several options that would be considered:  

 Additional investment from a new source;  
 A change of approach e.g. taking a more cost effective, planned approach so that more can be done 

with the existing budget; - one Highway Authority has made a conscious decision to maintain some 
roads to a lower standard and sign them accordingly 

 A reduction in one service to fund the enhancement of another service  

Currently no changes to service standards are proposed however, prior to any changes being made, a full 
evaluation of all the options would need to be undertaken and any notable changes would be subject to 
engagement, consultation and approval in accordance with the County Council’s constitution.    





To:             Dartford Joint Transportation Board 

By:             KCC Highways, Transportation and Waste

Date: 4th December 2018

Subject:  Highway Works Programme 2018/19 

Classification: Information Only 

Summary: This report updates Members on the identified schemes approved for 
construction in 2018/19 

1. Introduction 

This report provides an update and summarises schemes that have been programmed 
for delivery in 2018/19 

Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes – see Appendix A

Drainage Repairs & Improvements – see Appendix B

Street Lighting – see Appendix C

Transportation and Safety Schemes – see Appendix D
 Local Growth Fund

Developer Funded Works – see Appendix E

Bridge Works – see Appendix F

Traffic Systems – see Appendix G

Combined Member Fund – see Appendix H

Conclusion 

1. This report is for Members information.



Contact Officers:

The following contact officers can be contacted on 03000 418181
 
Carol Valentine Highway Manager West Kent
Denise Sutton Dartford District Manager
Alan Casson                   Senior Asset Manager
Earl Bourner    Drainage & Structures Asset Manager
Sue Kinsella Street Light Asset Manager
Toby Butler Traffic & Network Solutions Asset Manager
Jamie Hare Development Agreements Manager
Emma Green                                   Schemes Programme Manager



Appendix A – Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes

The delivery of these schemes is weather dependent; should it prove not possible to carry out these 
works on the planned dates, new dates will be arranged and the residents will be informed by a 
letter drop to their homes.

Machine Resurfacing – Contact Officer Mr Byron Lovell

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status

B2174 Princes Road 
Roundabout Dartford

North Road Roundabout 
Junction with Crayford 

Road
Completed

A206 Crossways 
Boulevard Dartford

Littlebrook Interchange to 
Anchor Boulevard 

Roundabout (including 
roundabout)

Programmed 29th 
October 2018

Footway Improvement - Contact Officer Mr Neil Tree

Road Name Parish Extent and Description of 
Works

Current Status

Longfield Avenue Longfield

From its junction with New 
Barn Road to its junction 
with Nurstead Avenue.

(Footway protection 
treatment)

Completed 

Surface Treatments – Contact Officer Mr Clive Lambourne

Stonehill Green Wilmington Entire Length
(Surface Dressing) Completed

Highcross Road Southfleet From Westwood Road to 
Betsham Road

(Micro Surfacing)
Completed

Darenth Road (South) Darenth Entire Length 
(Micro Surfacing) Completed

Hook Green Lane 
(Broad Lane)

Wilmington Birchwood Road to 
Common Lane

(Micro Surfacing)
Completed



Appendix B – Drainage

Drainage Repairs & Improvements - Contact Officer Earl Bourner
 

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

Bob Dunn 
Way Dartford Installation of new pumping 

station
Planning and 

Development Stage

Appendix C – Street Lighting

Structural testing of KCC owned street lights has identified the following as requiring replacement. 
Remaining concrete columns are being replaced. A status of complete identifies that the column 
replacement has been carried out. Programme dates are identified for those still requiring 
replacement.   

Street Lighting Column Replacement – Contact Officer Sue Kinsella

Road Name Parish Description of Works Status

Joyce Green Lane Dartford Replacement of 1 no street light Completed

Junction 1A Dartford Replacement of 1 no street light

Works 
programmed 

for 
completion 

by Jan 2019

Home Gardens Dartford Replacement of 3 no street lights

Works 
started but 
awaiting a 
fault repair 
on UKPN 
system 
before 

completing

Mounts Rd Greenhithe Replacement of 8 concrete L/Col’s

Road 
closure 
required 
target for 

completion 
Feb 2019

Park Way Wilmington Replacement of 4 no concrete lamp 
columns

3 x complete 
1 remaining 

due to 
boundary 
dispute 

completion 
by Jan 2019



Heathclose Ave Dartford Replacement of 5 street light columns Completed
Heathclose Ave Dartford Replacement of 1 sign light post Completed
Finchley Close Dartford Replacement of 2 no street lights Completed
Orchard Ave Dartford Replacement of 4 no street lights Completed

Cowdrey Court Dartford Replacement of 3 no street lights Completed
Heathlands Rise Dartford Replacement of 4 no street lights Completed

Heathview Crescent Dartford Replacement of 1 sign light post Completed

Heathview Crescent Dartford Replacement of 9 no street lights

8 Completed 
1 

outstanding 
completion 

by Dec 2018

Heathlands Rise Dartford Replacement of 1 Lamp column

Works 
programmed 

for 
completion 

by Jan 2019

Appendix D – Local Transport Plan funded (named schemes) and externally funded schemes

Local Growth Fund

Local Growth Fund programme update for the Dartford Borough.

The Department for Transport (DfT) added £100m to the Local Growth Fund (LGF) pot in order to 
fund Local Sustainable Transport Fund Style schemes.  KCC subsequently submitted four Local 
Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) capital bids 1) East Kent – A network for Growth, 2) Kent 
Thameside – Integrated door-to-door journeys and 3) West Kent – Tackling Congestion.  The fourth 
was for Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration, which included a highway improvements scheme in 
the Lower High Street as well as additional LSTF style measures.  The objective of all of the capital 
bids is to boost economic growth by decreasing carbon emissions and reducing congestion.

The Kent Thameside, West Kent and Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration bids were all successful. 
The schemes aim to:

 improve access to employment and services
 reduce the need to travel by the private car
 enhance pedestrian, cycle and public transport facilities
 improve sustainable transport connections

The following schemes have been submitted as part of the successful Kent Thameside LSTF this 
financial year.



Local Growth Fund (Transport Innovations)

Scheme Name Description of Works Current Status

Burnham Road 
Puffin Crossing

Puffin crossing at the northern end of 
Burnham Rd 

Completed and will no longer be 
reported on

Princes Road 
Cycle Route

Installation of new shared use cycle route 
on Princes Road (this scheme was 
previously reported to the JTB on 3rd 
December 2013).  Delivery to be jointly 
funded by S106 and LGF.

Initial consultation with Members 
sent by email in December 2016 
and only positive comments were 
received.  Minor amendments to 
the design have since been 
completed and a further 
consultation followed.  This 
consultation closed on 10th June 
2018. Seven responses were 
received, six (86%) had an overall 
positive view on the proposed 
scheme. The positive comments 
recognised that the scheme would 
have an impact on improving the 
local cycle infrastructure and 
providing greater choice of route. 
The decision made by KCC/DBC 
officers is to proceed with the 
implementation of the scheme.  
The final report is available at 
www.kent.gov.uk/princesroad and 
was presented at the Sept JTB 
and approved. The works are to 
be programmed for Spring 2019 
and once confirmed affected 
properties/stakeholders will 
receive a letter informing them of 
the works.

Appendix E – Developer Funded Works

Developer Funded Works (Section 278 Agreement Works) – Contact Officer Dave Miles 
(unless shown otherwise)

Scheme Name MasterGov 
File Ref No

Parish Description of Works Current Status

Former GSK Site 
– Junction A DA087 Dartford

Provision of new 
access on north side of 
existing Mill Pond Road 
Roundabout to facilitate 

development. 

Substantially 
complete. Interim First 
Cert. issued. Awaiting 

street lighting 

http://www.kent.gov.uk/princesroad


Associated 
improvements to 

existing roundabout.

certification.

Hedge Place 
Road DA091 Stone

Provision of new 
carriageway, footway, 

drainage & street 
lighting along frontage 

of residential 
development 

Works in progress 
(Natalie Peach)

Southfleet Road, 
Swanscombe DA2102 S & G

Minor carriageway 
widening and provision 
of footpath and street 

lighting to 
accommodate new 
access to Eastern 

Quarry development.

Substantially 
complete. Awaiting 

completion of 
remedials, as built 

drawing. etc.

St Clements 
Way DA2131 Stone

Installation of signalised 
junction to serve new 
housing development

First Cert. issued. 
Awaiting street 

lighting certification 
and as built 
information

Halcrow Avenue 
Phase 1 (The 

Bridge)
DA2132 Dartford

Alterations to existing 
highway to 

accommodate 
residential development

First certificate 
issued. Awaiting 

street lighting 
certification.

Hedge Place 
Road DA3026 Stone

Provision of footway 
and alterations to 

existing highway to 
accommodate 

proposed  residential 
development

First Cert. issued. Will 
not be signed off until 
road is no longer in 
use for construction 

traffic.  (Natalie 
Peach)

Former GSK Site 
- Junction D DA3028 Dartford

Construction of new 
roundabout at Temple 
Hill and installation of  

associated traffic 
signals 

Substantially 
complete. Interim 
First Cert. issued. 

Awaiting street 
lighting certification 

etc. 

Southfleet Road 
(Former N.Grid 

site)
DA3029 S & G

Provision of accesses 
to serve proposed 

residential development

First certificate issued 
(Jamie Hare)

Powdermill Lane DA3031 Dartford
Provision of new 

culvert under existing 
highway

Works completed. On 
Maintenance.

Darenth 
Road/Powdermill 

Lane
DA3032 Darenth

Improvement to 
existing junction, 

construction of new 
footway as part of 

adjacent residential 
development.

Works in progress. 
Awaiting street 
lighting install. 

(Natalie Peach)



Central Road – 
Junctions E & F DA3037 Dartford

Formation of bell mouth 
accesses for residential 
development by Ward 

Homes.

Houses being 
constructed on former 
site compound before 
works can be finished.

Former GSK Site 
– Junction B DA3050 Dartford

New signalised cross 
road junction in Central 

Road.

Completion delayed 
due to installation of 
HV cable in Central 

Road.

Instone Road DA3051 Dartford

Alterations to existing 
highway to provide 

access to proposed Lidl 
store. 

Substantially 
complete awaiting 

remedials

(Natalie Peach)

Former GSK Site 
– Junction C DA3052 Dartford

Provision of traffic 
signals to existing Mill 

Pond Road, Overy 
Street & Central Road 

junction

Completion delayed 
due to installation of 
HV cable in Central 

Road. 

Joyce Green 
Lane (west) DA3061 Dartford

Alteration to existing 
highway to serve 

development on former 
GSK car park.

Substantially 
complete. Street 
lighting remedials 

outstanding. (Natalie 
Peach) 

Central Road DA3070 Dartford

Alteration to existing 
highway in conjunction 
with development by 

Bellway Homes.

Substantially 
complete. Minor 

remedials. Held due 
to installation of HV 

cable. (Natalie Peach)

Halcrow Avenue 
Phase 3 (The 

Bridge)
DA3081 Dartford

Provision of new 
footway and alteration 
to existing carriageway 

for Phase 3 of 
residential 

development.

Works completed, 
awaiting as built 

records. 

Charles Street – 
Stone Crossing DA3094 Stone

Provision of pedestrian 
crossing facilities in 

conjunction with new 
footbridge over railway 

by Network Rail.

Works completed. On 
maintenance (Natalie 

Peach)

Lower Hythe 
Street DA3090 Dartford

Provision of new 
access and 

improvements to 
existing footway by 

Weston Homes

Awaiting confirmation 
of commencement 

date. 



Darenth Road & 
Market Street 
(Acacia Hall)

DA3091 Dartford

Provision of access 
crossing Fastrack and 
new access off Market 

St. for Acacia Hall

Awaiting amended 
submission. (Natalie 

Peach)

Green Street 
Green 

Road/Wood 
Lane, Darenth

DA3092 Darenth

Provision of new 
footway to frontage of 
former Fox & Hounds 

PH.

Submission rec’d. 
(Jamie Hare)

Churchill Close DA3093 Darenth
Alteration to existing 
vehicular access for 

Winners Chapel

Submission being 
negotiated.

Spring Vale 
(South) DA3094 Dartford

Provision of new 
access and 

reconstruction of ex 
carriageway due to 

subsidence caused by 
excavation by Lidl 

contractor

Awaiting H & S file & 
as built drgs. (Natalie 

Peach)

Littlebrook 
Manorway 

(North)
DA3096 Dartford

Provision of two 
accesses for proposed 
Mercedes showroom

TA issued. Awaiting 
signed Agreement.

Coleridge 
Road/Shaftsbury 

Lane
DA3099 Dartford

Provision of new 
footway and turning 
facility and vehicular 

access as part of 
residential 

development.

Works in progress. 

Brunel Way (The 
Bridge) DA3101 Dartford

Provision of new 
footway etc. for Leigh 

UTC.

Works completed. On 
Maintenance 

Market Street, DA3106 Dartford

Improvements to 
highway as part of 

Town Centre 
regeneration.

Awaiting submission 
of details (due 31-10-

18)

Lowfield Street, DA3129 Dartford

Residential 
development by 

Bellway Homes at north 
end of Lowfield Street

Awaiting submission

Littlebrook 
Manorway DA3149 Dartford

New access for 
commercial 

development at Plot 4 
“Quadron Park” and 
closure of existing 
access in Halcrow 

Avenue.

Submission rec’d 
awaiting amended 

drawings.



Hook Green 
Road DA3157 Southfleet New access to Hook 

Green Farm House
Awaiting details 
(Natalie Peach)

Southfleet Road DA3166 Swanscombe

Proposed Zebra 
Crossing to serve 
Eastern Quarry 
development 

Awaiting submission

Appendix F – Bridge Works

Bridge Works – Contact Officer Earl Bourner

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

No works planned

Appendix G – Traffic Systems

There is a programme of scheduled maintenance to refurbish life expired traffic signal equipment across 
the county based upon age and fault history. The delivery of these schemes is dependent upon school 
terms and holiday periods; local residents, businesses and schools will be informed verbally and by a letter 
drop of the exact dates when known. 

Traffic Systems - Contact Officer: Toby Butler
 

Location Description of Works Current Status

A225 Lowfield Street/ Oakfield Lane Refurbishment of traffic 
signal controlled junction

Completed September 
2018

Appendix H – Combined Member Fund

  Member Highway Fund programme update for the Dartford District.
The following schemes are those, which have been approved for funding by both the relevant 
Member and by Simon Jones, Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste. The list only includes 
schemes, which are 

 in design 
 at consultation stage
 about to be programmed
 recently completed on site



The list is up to date as of 26th October 2018
The details given below are for highway projects only, this report does not detail;

 Contributions Members have made to other groups such as parish councils
 Highway studies
 Traffic & non-motorised user surveys funded by Members.  

More information on the schemes listed below contact the Project Manager for the Combined 
Member Grant or the District Manager for Dartford. 

Ann Allen (Wilmington)

Details of Scheme Status

Proposed corner protection
Joydens Wood Road j/w Maryfields Close and Wood Close

Objections 
received via 
public 
consultation. 
To be reviewed. 

Proposed corner protection
High Road Wilmington j/w The Close

No objections 
received via 
public 
consultation. 
TRO to be 
sealed

Proposed corner protection 
Hawley Road/Access to Eloise Court

No objections 
received via 
public 
consultation. 
TRO has been 
sealed

Penny Cole (Dartford East)

Details of Scheme Status

London Road Stone o/s The Brent Primary School
Traffic and pedestrian count 

Survey carried 
out in 
September. Data 
to be assessed.

Peter Harman (Swanscombe & Greenhithe) 

Details of Scheme Status

No current highway schemes

Jeremy Kite MBE (Dartford Rural) 

Details of Scheme Status

No current highway schemes



David Butler (Dartford North East)

Details of Scheme Status

Joyce Green Lane north of Bob Dunn Way
Installation of verge marker posts in the carriageway on both sides of the road to 
prevent lorries parking overnight and eliminate the problem of fly tipping. Works complete

Marsh Street north
Build out restrictions to be reviewed

Design 
completed 
Works to be  
ordered.

Jan Ozog (Dartford West)

Details of Scheme Status

Heather Drive j/w Shepherds Lane

Proposed No Entry TRO into Heather Drive from Shepherds Lane - consultation 
period 16th February 2018 to 9th March 2018.

Looking at other 
options to 
prevent HGVs 
using road.

  
1.1 Legal Implications

1.1.1 Not applicable.

1.2 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.2.1 Not applicable.

1.3 Risk Assessment

1.3.1 Not applicable.

Contacts: Carol Valentine / Denise Sutton 03000 418181



KCC - Environment, Highways and Waste 





1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the Council Chamber - Sessions House on Thursday, 20 September 2018.

PRESENT: Mr M D Payne (Vice-Chairman), Mr M A C Balfour, Mr A Booth, 
Mr N J Collor, Mr S Holden, Mr A R Hills, Mr R C Love, Mr P J Messenger, 
Mr I S Chittenden, Mr A J Hook, Mr B H Lewis, Mr M E Whybrow and Mr H Rayner

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M Hill, OBE (Cabinet Member for Community and Regulatory 
Services) and Mr M Whiting (Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and 
Waste).

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs B Cooper (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Simon Jones (Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste), Katie 
Stewart (Director of Environment, Planning and Enforcement) and Georgina Little 
(Democratic Services Officer).

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

111. Membership 
(Item 2)

1. Mr Payne welcomed Mr M Balfour and Mr H Rayner as new Members to 
the committee

2. RESOLVED that the membership change be noted.

112. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item 3)

Apologies were received from Mr T Bond and Mr A Cook.

113. Election of Chairman 
(Item 4)

1. Mr M Payne proposed, seconded by Mr A Hills that Mr M Balfour was elected 
as Chairman of this Cabinet Committee.

2. RESOLVED that Mr M Balfour was elected Chairman to the Environment and 
Transport Cabinet Committee.

114. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda 
(Item 5)

Mr B Lewis declared an interest as an employee of Lake Market Research 
which was used as part of the bus consultation.



2

115. Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2018 
(Item 6)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 13th July 2018 are a 
correct record and that they be signed by the Chairman.

116. Verbal Update 
(Item 7)

1. Mr M Hill (Cabinet Member for Community and Regulatory Services) informed 
the Committee that the Natural Ways to Wellbeing was a project run by the 
Countryside Partnership and Mind to help those with Mental Health problems 
engage with nature using elements of ecology. Mr Hill appreciated the level of 
support shown by the Dartford Members through their contribution of Member 
grants. 

2. Mr Hill said that the Ash Dieback art project, run by the Kent Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) was launched on 14th September. The 
project aimed to raise awareness of the urgent cultural response required to 
tackle the demise of the ash trees. Mr Hill informed Members that it was 
expected that the Ash tree population would decline by 98%. Research was 
being carried out to try and develop a disease resistant strain and this could 
be used to plant replacement trees, however, this was not a cure.

3. Mr Whiting (Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and Waste) 
confirmed that the A26 sink hole was due to be completed by the 7 October 
2018, subject to weather conditions and third parties meeting their agreed 
installation dates. 

4. Further to the report to an earlier E&T Cabinet Committee regarding the 
proposed consultation on charging for non-household waste, the consultation 
had started and due to close on 1 November 2018, following which a decision 
would be made on whether Kent County Council introduced a charge for such 
waste. Mr Whiting also informed the Committee of the extended opening hours 
at Dartford, Maidstone and Swanley HWRC’s, with a 6pm closure on 
Wednesdays and a 6.30pm closure on Thursdays. The extended hours would 
be gradually reduced through September. 

5. Mr Whiting said that Highways England was preparing a Development 
Consent Order (DCO) which would form part of the initial process for the 
Statutory Consultation on the Lower Thames Crossing. Mr Whiting assured 
Members that the response would be presented to the Committee prior to its 
submission. The Lower Thames Crossing Consultation was due to start in 
October 2018. 

(a) In response to Members concerns regarding the Crossrail 1 Line to Abbey 
Woods, Mr Whiting confirmed that the DFT had announced that this had 



3

been delayed until the autumn of 2019. With regards to Thameslink 
changes Mr Whiting said that getting the service right was fundamental. 
Maidstone would start to see the benefit of the changes by December 2019 
and Kent County Council fully supported this position. Mr Whiting agreed to 
chase the response from Joseph Johnson (Minister of State, Department for 
Transport).

(b) Mr Whiting confirmed that data had been received from the Lower Thames 
Crossing on the proposed traffic modelling and said that this would be 
available to Members in conjunction with the final consultation report. 

(c) In response to non-household waste, Mr Whiting confirmed that there was a 
definitive list of non-household waste items that would be circulated to 
Members of the Committee.

6. RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

117. Performance Dashboard 
(Item 8)

Richard Fitzgerald (Business Intelligence Manager, Performance, Strategic 
Business, Development &Intelligence) was in attendance for this item.

1. Mr Fitzgerald introduced the Performance Dashboard which showed progress 
made against targets set for Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) up to the end 
of July 2018. Mr Fitzgerald advised the committee that the data for ‘DT06 – 
Percentage for Highway Licence applications completed online’ was available 
and should have been included within the published dashboard. 

2. In response to Members queries regarding DT04, Mr Fitzgerald agreed to 
correct the wording. 

3. In response to Members concerns regarding the newly adopted incentivised 
model and the proportion of waste diverted from landfill, Mr S Jones (Director 
of Highways, Transportation and Waste) said that the Districts involved had 
shown a positive improvement. He informed Members that whilst the figure for 
landfill waste remained relatively low and was within the set target level, the 
key areas of concern were those that posed a hazardous risk such as animal 
and asbestos disposal. Mr Jones said that the incentivised model could be 
adopted by other District Councils, however, the model would need to be 
compatible and phased in gradually.

4. Members raised concern regarding the Year to Date figure of the LED 
Streetlight conversions. Mr Jones said that Kent Count Council had recently 
awarded the maintenance contract to Bouygues Energies and Services 



4

Infrastructure UK Ltd. (BYEs). Prior to the this, streetlighting maintenance was 
provided through the highways term maintenance Mr Jones was confident that 
the new supplier would improve the LED repair rates.

5. In response to the management of footways, Mr Whiting agreed to consider a 
Key Performance Indicator to monitor these going forward.

6. Members questioned the measures put in place to tackle fly-tipping as a result 
of charging for municipal waste, Mr Whiting said that work would continue to 
be done with the District Councils and partner agencies to monitor fly-tipping. 
Mr Whiting reiterated to Members that the consultation on charging for non-
household waste items had commenced and that a decision would only be 
made once the public view had been sought. 

7. In response to Members queries regarding the effectiveness of the new 
pothole repair procedures, Mr Jones said that an additional £10 million had 
been budgeted for to assist with further repairs. The Pothole Blitz was a 
proactive campaign that helped the Highways Team to identify immediate 
risks, trial new treatments and create an intelligence led approach to ensure 
well informed decisions in the future. 

8. Members commended the work of the officers and furthermore, commended 
Mr Love for his work on the Kent Resource Partnership 

9. RESOLVED that the reported be noted.

118. Big Conversation 
(Item 9)

Phil Lightowler (Head of Public Transport) was in attendance for this item.

1. Mr M Whiting (Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and Waste) 
introduced the report which provided Members with an update on the progress 
of the Big Conversation Consultation and the next stage of the programme. Mr 
Whiting took the opportunity to thank Rob Clarke (Project Manager), Phil 
Lightowler (Head of Public Transport) along with all colleagues, Members and 
Parish Councillors for their extensive work and input at all public meetings. 

2. Mr Lightowler said that the consultation sought to understand community 
views on three proposed ideas: feeder services, bookable services and taxi-
bus services, the concept of which was to link communities without routes to 
mainline services. The Big Conversation Consultation was supported through 
a series of public meetings and a survey which received 2355 responses. The 
next stage of the programme involved analysing the responses which would 
help to inform the development of the pilot schemes. An update report would 
then be presented to the Programme Board and then to the Cabinet Member 



5

for approval. A final report would be considered by the Environment and 
Transport Cabinet Committee Mr Lightowler informed the Committee that the 
Bus Summit was due to be held on 30 October 2018 and details of the event 
were within the report if Members wished to attend.  Mr Whiting confirmed that 
the Bus Summit would be webcast to facilitate those who could not attend. 

3. In response to Members concerns regarding the £18 per person subsidy 
figure, Mr Whiting clarified that the objective of the consultation was not solely 
about buses - it was to identify ways in which Kent County Council could save 
money on the expensive subsidies and how these could be reinvested into 
rural areas to improve and/or provide public transportation. The specific 
question around whether people were willing to pay towards an improved 
public transport service was asked at every meeting, however, the response to 
this question was not yet known and would be available in the published Lake 
Market Research report. Mr Whiting said that there was a £0.5 million budget 
set aside to facilitate the pilot schemes, however, the pilots would not be 
introduced until 2019. The criteria against which the three ideas were being 
evaluated against were set out at paragraph 3.2 on page 33 of the agenda.

4. Mr Lightowler assured members that the English National Concessionary 
Travel Scheme (ENCTS) permits were a statutory obligation for Kent County 
Council and those who were entitled to and used an ENCTS permit would not 
be required to pay for public transportation. There were no proposals to 
introduce charging, however, Mr Lightowler acknowledged that this had been 
a major misconception reported throughout the Big Conversation. The 
Consultation focused on very new and radical ideas that addressed issues of 
entitled ENCTS users not having access to bus services and asked those 
users for their views on whether they would be willing to pay a voluntary 
contribution to fund a bus service. 

5. In response to queries regarding the Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA), Mrs 
Cooper said that the EQIA was a living document and that the initial 
assessment was carried out in June 2018. A revised EQIA would be published 
following the feedback from the consultation.

6. Members commended the work and support of all staff and Members involved 
in the Big Conversation Consultation.

7. RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

119. Kent & Medway Energy & Low Emissions Strategy - Emerging evidence 
and priorities 
(Item 10)



6

Carolyn McKenzie (Head of Sustainable Business and Communities) and 
Deborah Kapaj (Sustainable Estates Programme Manager, Sustainable Business 
and Communities) were in attendance for this item.

1. Mr Payne (Deputy Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and 
Waste) introduced the report that provided Members with an update on the 
development of an Energy and Low Emissions Strategy for Kent and Medway 
and the emerging priorities for action.

2. Ms McKenzie said that the paper was a further update to the report presented 
to the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee in May 2018 which set 
out the evidence base and suggested actions for early consultation feedback. 
The on-going development of the strategy would continue to be informed 
through extensive engagement with stakeholders and the Kent Environment 
Strategy Cross Party Members Group. Ms McKenzie highlighted to the 
Committee the five key themes (pages 54 – 57) and the potential options for 
action, which included:

 Leadership and Governance 
 Evidence and Intelligence  
 Policy, Planning and Guidance
 Financing and Investment 
 Communications and Engagement   

Ms McKenzie concluded that the specific costed measures had not yet been 
defined, however, the evidence gathered indicated a clear need for further 
action in Kent with support from District Partners, the Kent and Medway 
Economic Partnership and the SE Local Enterprise Partnership to deliver 
sustainable growth, improve health outcomes and address the risks of climate 
change. The proposed  initiatives would be presented to the Committee at a 
later date and assurance was given to Members that the proposals  would be 
evaluated using a business case, value for money approach with external 
funding to ensure maximum impact. 

3. In response to Members queries, Ms McKenzie confirmed that the preparation 
of the action plan had been moved to the autumn as complex areas required 
further research. Further work was also needed to be undertaken with partners 
to ensure a cohesive strategy. 

4. With regard to anti-idling policies, work had been done in conjunction with 
Canterbury District Council to implement an anti-idling policy in an attempt to 
reduce pollution. Work had also been carried out with Licencing authorities 
which looked at providing taxi ranks with electric charging points.

5. Ms McKenzie explained that many of the potential actions to improve energy 
and low emissions could not be enforced by Kent County Council, however, 



7

the Council was  exploring the feasibility of those options which was why the 
report used terminology like ‘exploration.’

6. In response to nuclear sources and emission levels, Ms McKenzie said that 
the paper focused primarily on the work that had already began, however, 
Districts had raised questions concerning nuclear power sources and work 
around this would be considered. In regard to fusion production, Ms McKenzie 
hoped that the strategy would contain a section that looked at all types of new 
technology and the feasibility work required around these types of technology. 
Ms McKenzie agreed to look at whether a breakdown of the fuel consumption 
could be provided to Members. 

7. Mr Whiting commended the work of Mr Payne who was leading on the Energy 
and Low Emissions Strategy for Kent and Medway and all the officers 
involved. 

8. RESOLVED that the:

(a)  evidence gathered to date and emerging analysis; and

(b) the proposed themes and potential actions outlined in Section 5, to help 
shape the final draft strategy,

be noted. 

120. Approach to Managing Highway Structures 
(Item 11)

Andrew Loosemore (Head of Highways Asset Management) and Kathryn 
Moreton (Asset Management, Drainage, Structures and Safety Barriers) were in 
attendance for this item.

1. Mr M Whiting (Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and Waste) 
introduced the report that outlined the approach taken by the Highways Asset 
Management team in managing highway structures in Kent, with specific 
reference to sub-standard highway structures. Mr Whiting was pleased to 
announce that there had been no structural failures resulting in injury reported 
in the last 30 years. 

2. Mr Loosemore assured Members that the management of highway structures 
was underpinned by a regime of regular inspections and quality control 
processes to reduce the deterioration and degradation of bridges. The report 
demonstrated the process for identifying substandard structures and the 
resources available to do so.



8

3. Mrs Moreton said that each year the RAC Foundation would submit a 
Freedom of Information (FOI) request to all bridge authorities in England 
seeking data on the condition of substandard structures (bridges over a 1.5m 
span). The RAC Foundation report revealed that 4.4% of bridges were 
deemed to be substandard and did not meet the current loading 
requirements. In Kent however, the number of substandard bridges sat at 
3.8% which was below the national average. The report also identified that it 
would cost £934 million to repair all substandard structures within England 
which would be equivalent to £271,000 per structure. Mrs Moreton said that 
whilst there had been 39 substandard structures identified in Kent, this was a 
consistent figure and was below the national average. 

4. In response to Members queries, Mr Loosemore said that the mitigating 
measures in place ensured safety for the road user and the structure itself 
and this was monitored on a regular basis. Whilst there was a need for further 
funding, the approach to managing structures was based on risk. Those 
structures identified as an immediate risk would be completed as a priority 
and those that could not be addressed in the same year would continue to 
have regular inspections and mitigating measures would be put in place to 
ensure the safety of the structure and the road user. Mr Loosemore confirmed 
that structures submerged in water received specialist underwater 
inspections. 

5. Mrs Moreton said that highway bridges were subject to a principle inspection, 
however, should concerns arise then a more comprehensive inspection would 
also be carried out with increased monitoring every three to six months to 
identify degradation of structures that may be deemed to be more complex. 

6. RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

121. Winter Service Policy for 2018/19 
(Item 12)

Carol Valentine (Highway Manager, West) was in attendance for this item.

1. Mr M Whiting (Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and Waste) 
introduced the report that set out the revisions to the Winter Service Policy. Mr 
Whiting said that there had been no substantive changes to the general 
custom and practice in which the Highways Team operate in terms of 
managing the winter service, the changes within the policy were simply to 
reflect that practice.

2. Mrs Valentine drew Members attention to page 84 of the agenda which 
highlighted the work that had been done over the summer to improve the 
winter service. The three key changes to the policy included: the Smart Winter 
Project whereby additional sensors would be used to monitor the road surface 



9

temperatures which would in turn provide data to optimise primary routes; the 
optimisation of secondary routes; and the farmers gritting trial which again, fed 
into optimising resources and looking at possible secondary routes. Mrs 
Valentine advised the Committee that the Equality Impact Assessment was 
available and would be circulated to Members. 

3. In response to the minimum salt stock levels, Mrs Valentine said that there 
was 16,800 tonnes of salt which was sufficient and would cover the entire 
winter period.

4. Mrs Valentine confirmed that Parish Seminars were due to take place in 
November 2018 and the Winter Service Policy would be a key item on the 
agenda for discussion. 

5. In response to queries regarding media and communication, Mr Loosemore 
agreed that communication was essential during the winter season and was a 
valuable asset during the Beast from the East in helping to keep people safe. 
There was guidance issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) which was 
available on the Kent County Council website, however, work continued to be 
done on improving public guidance.  

6. RESOLVED that the proposed changes to the Winter Service Policy for 
2018/19 to include the following:

(s.5.5.4) Observational data from road weather sensors will be used to 
validate pre-salting decisions

(s. 6.1.1) Secondary routes to be treated when all primary routes treated and 
resources available 

(s. 6.4.2) Farmers trial to be expanded

 be noted. 

122. Work Programme for 2018/19 
(Item 13)

1. Mrs Cooper (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and Transport) 
informed the Committee that the Kent Port Access Contingency Planning 
item had been deferred to the November Cabinet Committee due to the 
complex nature of the work involved. The Members request to address 
concerns regarding the management of traffic and freight was 
acknowledged.

2. RESOLVED that the Work Programme be noted subject to the inclusion of 
the following items:



10

(a) A factual report on the progress of the Manston Airport Development 
Consent Order

(b) A progress report on the railroad ferry service into Ramsgate

123. Street Lighting Term Services Contract 
(Item 14)

Andrew Loosemore (Head of Highways Asset Management) and Sue Kinsella 
(Streetlighting Asset Management) were in attendance for this item.

1. Mr M Whiting (Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and Waste) 
introduced the report that provided an overview of the Street Lighting Term 
Services Contract. Mr Whiting was pleased to announce that the project was 
the largest of its type in the UK and had been successful in delivering on time, 
within budget and with very few complaints due to the strong partnership 
between the staff at Bouygues Energies and Services Infrastructure UK Ltd. 
(BYEs) and the officers within Kent County Council. 

2. Mr Loosemore informed the Committee that Kent County Council had entered 
into a fifteen-year term Maintenance Contract with BYEs as of 1st September 
2018. The LED conversion project was valued at £40 million and required a 
specific team to manage the contract and all aspects of eventualities to ensure 
a high standard of service deliverance. 

3. Ms Kinsella informed the Committee that as of June 2018, a total of 100,000 
conversions has been completed. In recognition of the success of the project 
and its achievements in reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions, 
the Highways Asset Management Team would be attending the Highway 
Magazine Awards as finalists on 17 October 2018.  

4. In response to queries regarding the number of LED conversions in Thanet, 
Ms Kinsella confirmed that there was 15,000 still needing completion across 
the county. The process had been prolonged in Thanet as the LED 
conversions could not take place until the concrete columns had been 
replaced. 

5. Ms Kinsella confirmed that Kent County Council maintained streetlighting for 
seven District Councils. A record of ownership for each streetlight was 
available and should Members have a query regarding this, the Streetlight 
Asset Management Team would be able to assist. 

6. RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted. 


	Agenda
	3 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint Transportation Board held on 4 September 2018.
	5 Matters Arising
	Matters Arising report

	8 Proposed  Waiting  Restrictions, Chastilian Road and Wentworth Drive , Dartford, Kent
	9 Fastrack Report
	Appendix - Ingress Park Avenue Consultation

	10 Vehicle Crossovers
	11 Dartford Town Centre Redevelopment: Update
	Appendix A combined
	Appendix A 1 of 3
	Appendix A (2 of 3)
	Appendix A (3 of 3) - 1000004700-3-SK37-00

	Appendix B  - Rev 1 Roadmap KJL 1-11-18

	12 Petition: Rezoning Dartford Railway Station
	Response to TO Chapter ID 240758

	14 Dartford Winter Works
	15 Well Managed Highways
	Appendix A - Well Managed Highway Infrastructure - Applying the Code of Practice in Kent - Final N
	Appendix B - Well Managed Highway Infrastructure - Implementing the Code of Practice in Kent - Final N
	Appendix C - Case Study Well-managed Highway Infrastructure – A practical application

	16 Dartford Highways Works Programme
	17 KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee
	Printed minutes 20th-Sep-2018 10.00 Environment Transport Cabinet Committee


